AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:
Marquee Suite, Springfields
Events & Conference Centre,
Camelgate, Spalding, PE12 6ET

Contact:
Direct Dial:
e-mail:

Democratic Services
01775 764454
demservices@sholland.gov.uk

Date:

11 May 2021

Dear Councillor,
The Annual meeting of the DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held in the Marquee Suite,
Springfields Events & Conference Centre, Camelgate, Spalding, PE12 6ET on
Wednesday, 19 May 2021, commencing at 6.30 pm at which your attendance is
requested.
Yours faithfully,

Christine Marshall
Executive Director (Strategy and Resources) (S151)
(Quorum:13)
AGENDA
Minute’s Silence – Members of South Holland District Council are requested to observe a
minute’s silence in remembrance of all those who have lost their lives to, or been affected
by Covid-19.
1.

Election of a Chairman
The Chairman / Monitoring Officer will invite nominations for the election
of a Chairman for the ensuing year. A Chairman will then be elected
and sign the declaration of acceptance of office.

2.

Election of a Vice-Chairman
The Chairman will invite nominations for the election of a ViceChairman.

3.

Apologies for absence.

4.

Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following meetings:

a)

Special Council 24 February 2021 (copy enclosed).

(Pages
5 - 8)

b)

Council 3 March 2021 (copy enclosed).

(Pages
9 - 24)

c)

Special Council 28 April 2021 (copy enclosed).

(Pages
25 - 34)

5.

Declaration of Interests.
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item,
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of
dispensation.)

6.

Chairman's Announcements.

7.

Announcements by Leader and Members of the Cabinet.

8.

Questions asked on notice under Standing Order 6

9.

Questions asked without notice under Standing Order 7

10.

Committee Minutes
To note the minutes of the following Committees and Panels:a) Policy Development Panel – 2 March 2021
b) Planning Committee – 10 March 2021
c) Governance and Audit Committee – 11 March 2021
d) Performance Monitoring Panel – 18 March 2021
e) Planning Committee – 14 April 2021
f) Planning Committee – 29 April 2021

11.

Key Decision Plan
To receive the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).

(Pages
35 - 40)

12.

Report from Cabinet meeting held on 27 April 2021
To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:

(Pages
41 - 80)

a) Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue
Account – To set out details of the potential for the authority to
acquire eight s106 affordable homes on a development site in the
district (Cabinet agenda item 8 and exempt item 13) (Cabinet minute
80);
b) Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account – To set out

details of the potential for the authority to acquire twelve new build
homes for Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the
district (Cabinet agenda item 9 and exempt item 14) (Cabinet minute
81);
c) Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach
Road, Spalding – To present a business case to Cabinet and to
present to Council, as sole shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, a
proposal from the company to purchase six houses for the purposes
of market rental investment and an updated Welland Homes
Business Plan (Cabinet agenda item 10 and exempt item 15)
(Cabinet minute 82).
13.

Political Group Regulations and Committee/Outside Body Membership
Review
To confirm, in accordance with the Local Government (Committees and
Political Groups) Regulations 1990, appointments to committees and
outside bodies and review of membership (report of the Assistant
Director – Governance (Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

14.

Nominations for Committees and other Seats and Proposed Changes to
the Constitution.
To receive, from political groups, nominations for any changes to
Committees and other seats and to consider any proposed changes to
the Constitution.

15.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent

NOTE:

(Pages
81 - 92)

No other business is permitted unless by reason of special
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the
Chairman is of the opinion that the items(s) should be
considered as a matter of urgency.

16.

Exclusion of the Press and Public
To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Act.

17.

Report from Cabinet meeting held on 27 April 2021 (exempt item)
Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue
Account (exempt appendix enclosed) – Agenda item 12 refers.

(Pages
93 - 94)

18.

Report from Cabinet meeting held on 27 April 2021 (exempt item)
Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account (exempt
appendix enclosed) – Agenda item 12 refers.

(Pages
95 - 96)

19.

Report from Cabinet meeting held on 27 April 2021 (exempt item)
Welland Homes Business Plan Update, incorporating Holbeach Road,
Spalding (exempt appendices enclosed) – Agenda item 12 refers.

(Pages
97 102)

Agenda Item 4.a)
-1-

Minutes of a Special Meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in
line with the Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of
Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations
2020, on Wednesday, 24 February 2021 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
F Biggadike (Chairman)
P A Redgate (Vice-Chairman)
B Alcock
J R Astill
J Avery
A C Beal
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter
A Casson
P E Coupland
A C Cronin
R Gambba-Jones

R A Gibson
R Grocock
M Hasan
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
J L Reynolds
G T D Rudkin
G P Scalese

M D Seymour
S-A Slade
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
A C Tennant
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
A R Woolf
C N Worth

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors
H J W Bingham, H Drury, J L King and J Tyrrell,
In Attendance: The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor, the Executive
Director Commercialisation (S151), the Executive Manager Governance, the
Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager, the Democratic Services Manager and
the Democratic Services Team Leader.
Action By

80.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.
There were none.

81.

INTEGRATED SHARED MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE AND
JOINT WORKING ARRANGEMENTS REVIEW - PREFERRED
OPTION FOR BRECKLAND AND SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT
COUNCILS
Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Paid Service
and Strategic Advisor, which set out recommendations from
Stage One of the Review of the future of the Integrated Shared
Management Structure and Joint Working Arrangements between
Breckland and South Holland District Councils.
At a meeting of the Joint Strategy Board on 11 January 2021,
recommendations 1 – 3 within the report had been endorsed.
The Cabinets at both authorities had met (South Holland District

Page 5

-2SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 February 2021

Council on 26 January 2021 and Breckland Council on 1 February
2021) and recommendations 1-4 within the report had been
supported. Finally, the Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and
Policy Development Panel at South Holland District Council, and
the Overview and Scrutiny Commission at Breckland Council had
both met separately on 9 February 2021, and recommendations
1-4 within the report had been supported.
Additional recommendations (5-9 within the report) had been
identified and included within the report, following observations
and comments from the Cabinet and scrutiny meetings, and
following on-going governance arrangements of the Review
Programme.
The following points were raised:


The Leader wished to re-iterate the fact that there were no
negative reasons for the ending of the relationship between
the two authorities. As explained at previous meetings, the
reasons were – 1) A return to place-based working – the
difficulties of shared working across two separate counties had
been highlighted by the Covid pandemic; 2) Local Government
reorganisation; and 3) the recent retirement of the Joint Chief
Executive.



The Chairman of the Performance Monitoring Panel confirmed
that the proposals had been considered by a number of
different committees, and there had been plenty of opportunity
for a thorough debate. The reasons for, and the process of
separation had been made clear, and scrutiny had been
satisfied with the explanations and processes.

DECISION:
Recommendations from Cabinet to Full Council:
1) That the preferred option for the future of the integrated
shared management structure and joint working arrangements
between the two Councils, as set out in paragraph 1.9 of the
report, be approved;
2) That clause 8 of the Memorandum of Agreement between
Breckland District Council and South Holland District Council
be activated, and that any extension or shortening of the
timeframe set out in clause 8.6A be authorised, by mutual
agreement between the two parties, so far as may be
considered appropriate by the Leaders, following consultation
with their respective Cabinets;

Page 6

-3SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 February 2021

3) That the interim structures to support and enable the
achievement of the preferred option for both Councils be
approved for consultation;
4) That subject to there being no material changes to the senior
management structure following consultation with officers,
delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service in
consultation with the Leader to implement the said structure.
Further recommendations to Full Council in support of above
recommendations:
5) That in respect of any Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer
post that remains to be filled following the introduction of the
new structure at appendices 3 and 4, South Holland Council
members of the Joint Appointments Panel meet as a separate
Appointments Panel to make any appointment(s) to such
posts(s);
6) That a separate report be brought to Council, prior to
implementation of the new structure, to enable the Council
formally to designate the required statutory officers from 1 May
2021 – being the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer
and the officer responsible for the financial administration of
the authority (s151 officer);
7) That the Terms & Conditions of staff in scope of the Review,
as follows be approved, to ensure that both councils operate in
accordance with the Memorandum of Agreement at clause 8.6
(d) in determining a fair and reasonable allocation of staff
between the two Councils, to enable a fair and reasonable
choice for staff in indicating their preferred council and to
support the consultation on the interim structures:
i. that any member of staff transferring employment from
BDC to SHDC will remain on their current BDC grades and
will be pay protected for 3 years.
ii. that any member of staff transferring employment from
BDC to SHDC will remain on their current BDC holiday
entitlement, based on the qualifying service and post.
iii. that the BDC grading scheme (starting at Grade 5) will
apply to SHDC.
8) That the current appointment of Nathan Elvery as Strategic
Advisor/Head of Paid Service be extended until 30 April in line

Page 7

-4SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 24 February 2021

with the timescale necessary to support the implementation of
these additional recommendations; and
9) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Paid Service
in consultation with the Leader of the Council to agree any
changes to and to sign and complete any amending
agreement in respect of the Memorandum of Agreement that
may be considered necessary to implement the above
recommendations.

(The meeting ended at 6.44 pm)
(End of minutes).

Page 8

Agenda Item 4.b)
-1-

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in line
with the Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local
Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on
Wednesday, 3 March 2021 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
F Biggadike (Chairman)
P A Redgate (Vice-Chairman)
B Alcock
J R Astill
J Avery
A C Beal
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter
A Casson
P E Coupland
A C Cronin
H Drury

R Gambba-Jones
R A Gibson
R Grocock
M Hasan
J L King
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
J L Reynolds

G T D Rudkin
G P Scalese
M D Seymour
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
A R Woolf
C N Worth

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors H J W Bingham
and S-A Slade,
In Attendance: The Shared Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), the Place
Manager, the Executive Manager - Governance, the Strategic Housing Manager, the
HR Manager, the Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager, the Democratic
Services Manager and the Democratic Services Team Leader.

82.

MINUTES
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of Full Council held
on 20 January 2021.
As no member wished to discuss the content of Restricted Minute 79 of the
meeting of Full Council held on 20 January 2021 (attached at agenda item
18), these were also considered at this point in the meeting.
DECISION:
a) That the public minutes of the meeting of Full Council held on 20 January
2021 be signed as a correct record; and
b) That the restricted minute 79 of the meeting of Full Council held on 20
January 2021 be signed as a correct record.

Page 9

-2SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

83.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.
The Leader of the Council declared an interest in relation to agenda items
10b and 10c, as they related to the purchase of new properties, as he could
know individuals involved. He would take no part in the discussion, and
would leave the meeting during consideration of these items.
Councillors Alcock, Booth, Coupland, Seymour, Sneath and Tyrrell did not
have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, but in the interests of transparency
declared that, in relation to agenda item 10b, they were Directors of Welland
Homes Ltd.
Councillors Grocock and Newton did not have a Disclosable Pecuniary
Interest, but in the interests of transparency declared that they represented
the Council as Directors on the Board of PSPS Ltd.

84.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS.
There were none.

85.

ANNOUNCEMENTS BY LEADER AND MEMBERS OF THE CABINET.
There were none.

86.

QUESTIONS ASKED ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 6
There were none.

87.

QUESTIONS ASKED WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 7
Question to: Councillor Coupland / Councillor Gambba-Jones
Question From: Councillor Newton
Subject: Market charges
Councillor Newton asked, with reference to the report at item 10a of the
agenda, why it was proposed to charge market stall holders in Spalding
more per pitch than at other markets within the district? Councillor Coupland
advised that the Council was considering extending the period of no charge
for market stall holders, by a further three months. Consideration would also
be given to revising and reviewing charges, and Councillor Newton was
invited to be part of the process.
Councillor Newton asked a supplementary question, commenting that if
charges were to be discussed further, that reference to the higher charges in
Spalding should be withdrawn from the report at 10a. Councillor GambbaJones responded that in his opinion, it was premature to discuss the
equalisation of charges. He advised that it had been made clear, when the

Page 10

-3SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

issue had first been raised, that one of the key aspects regarding Spalding
town centre was to encourage footfall, and that the market was pivotal to
this. Revenue was required, and had to be generated, in order to lay on
events to encourage people into the town – the return from market charges
would contribute towards the required revenue. Currently, there were no
market charges. The proposals formed part of the Town Centre
Improvement Plan, and some time was needed to consider the way forward.
Therefore, the information currently within the budget report should remain,
in order to retain the option of using market fees towards initiatives to
encourage people into Spalding Town Centre.
Question to: Leader of the Council
Question From: Councillor Brewis
Subject: Drainage Board precepts
Councillor Brewis asked whether there was any further progress with regard
to treating Drainage Board precepts as separate precepts, and not as part of
the District’s expenditure. The Leader responded that there had been no
further progress in persuading the Government that the Drainage Boards
precepts should be treated as a separate precept, in order that they could be
truly sustainable, without being included within the Council’s Budgets. He
pointed out that, it could be seen, within the Council Tax setting report, that
at least 25% of the charge related to the Drainage Boards, and he felt that it
was time for this charge to be more clearly illustrated. Only 17 Districts in
the country were affected by this issue.
Question to: Leader of the Council
Question from: Councillor Brewis
Subject: Fairer funding
Councillor Brewis asked the Leader whether he had made any further
progress in ensuring that Fairer Funding (which would provide more
Government funding to rural areas) would not be delayed by yet another
year. The Leader responded it was not clear when Fairer Funding would
become a reality, and that there had been no mention of it in the Budget
announced by the Government earlier in the day. Any equalisation between
urban and rural areas now seemed less likely.
88.

COMMITTEE MINUTES
The minutes of the following Committees and Panels were noted:






Planning Committee – 13 January 2021
Governance and Audit Committee – 14 January 2021
Joint Performance Monitoring and Policy Development Panel – 21
January 2021
Performance Monitoring Panel – 27 January 2021
Special Meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel – 9 February 2021

Page 11

-4SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021



89.

Joint Performance Monitoring and Policy Development Panel – 9
February 2021
Planning Committee – 10 February 2021

KEY DECISION PLAN
Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan.
DECISION:
That the Key Decision Plan be received.

90.

REPORT FROM CABINET MEETING HELD ON 16 FEBRUARY 2021
Consideration was given to the report of Cabinet which sought approval for
the Cabinet’s recommendations:
a) 2020/21 Finance Report Quarter 3
The report was presented to the Council by the Portfolio Holder for Finance,
Strategy and Partnerships. He advised that this item, and agenda item 11
were both linked, and that he intended to lay out the situation from March
2020 to 2022 and beyond, detailing budget highs and lows, and a roadmap
for Covid-recovery.









The main factor affecting the Council’s finances had been the Covid-19
pandemic, resulting in increased costs for, and loss of income to the
Council;
A General Fund overspend of £551,000 was forecast (an improvement
on Quarter 2), mainly as a result of Government grants received, and an
increase in Planning fees;
The HRA outturn was forecast to be in surplus of £2.996 million at 31
March 2021
The General Fund Reserves balance was forecast to be £7.285 million at
31 March 2021
The HRA Reserves balance was forecast at £25.436 million at 31 March
2021
The Capital Programme for 2021 was being reviewed and a number of
schemes were being re-profiled as a result of Covid-19. A
recommendation to Council was that the Capital Programme be revised
to reflect the forecast.
Over the past 12 months, the Council had operated remotely, and with
limited staff. It had performed well during the pandemic, and it was
believed that this would result in a balanced end of year outturn.

DECISION:
1) That the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Capital

Page 12

-5SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

programme be approved as set out in table 5 and 7 of Appendix A;
2) The NNDR S31 grant for expanded retail relief and the nursery reliefs in
2020/21 be carried forward in reserves to cover the NNDR deficits
recognised in 2021/22 (as detailed in section 5.3.1 of the report); and
3) That the income received from NNDR and Council Tax income
compensation scheme be carried forward in a reserve to cover the
deficits recognised in future years (as detailed in section 5.3.2 of the
report).
(Lord Porter left the meeting during discussion of the following two items).
b) Welland Homes Business Plan Update
The report was presented to the Council by the Portfolio Holder for Assets
and Planning.
The report set out a proposal for Welland Homes to deliver a new housing
acquisition scheme. This was the Company’s fifth housing scheme, and the
first in Holbeach. The report provided a business case proposing that the
Company purchase four three-bedroom houses in an area where there was
a demand.
The appendices, and exempt Cabinet minute 73, relating to this item were
attached to the agenda as exempt items however, no discussion of the
exempt information was required and the item was therefore considered in
open session.
DECISION:
1) That the updated Welland Homes Business Plan be approved and
included as an amendment in the SHDC Quarterly report to members for
quarter 1 2021/22; and
2) That the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25 March 2015, to
the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151 Officer), to approve
the final mix or use of reserves and borrowing in line with the business
plan and Council Treasury Management Strategy, be reaffirmed.
c) Acquisition project to purchase S106 units
The report was presented to the Council by the Portfolio Holder for Assets
and Planning.
The report set out a proposal for the Council to acquire 7 additional
affordable homes, funded from the HRA. The business case had already
been approved by the Cabinet, and the Council decision related to a

Page 13

-6SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

necessary amendment to the Capital Programme.
The appendix relating to this item was attached to the agenda as an exempt
item however, no discussion was required on the exempt appendix and the
item was therefore considered in open session.
Members wished to seek assurance that there was a need for the type of
property in question, within the location stated. Officers confirmed that they
were satisfied that there was a housing need for this type of property, and
that this was borne out by the number of applicants on SHDC’s Housing
Register requiring this property type within the Whaplode area. It was also
felt that there could be subsequent interest from members of the public for
properties of this quality.
DECISION:
That the Capital Programme be amended, to identify this project as an
approved scheme in the 2020/21 Budget.
(Lord Porter returned to the meeting following discussion of items (b) and (c)
above).
91.

BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2021/22
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance,
Strategy and Partnerships and the Executive Director Commercialisation
(S151), which asked the Council to consider the General Fund and Housing
Revenue Account 2021/22, revenue and capital estimates, and the Financial
Medium Term Plan.
The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy and Partnerships introduced the
report and outlined the main details of the Budget:






As a result of continued, unprecedented uncertainty from the
Government with regard to Business Rates and the Fair Funding Review,
the Authority was taking a prudent position;
The following major service areas would continue to be affected by the
Covid pandemic during 2021/22 – Leisure Services (including the South
Holland Centre), waste management collection, a reduction in fees and
charges, a reduction in Business Rates and Council Tax receipts, and
reduced interest on investments. These would all affect the budget
throughout the forthcoming year;
The Government had announced some Covid support packages for
2021/22, to mitigate against the impact to Councils’ budget pressures,
and these had been calculated into the Base Budget workings;
The General Fund Budget requirement for 2021/22 was £12.4 million,
which included an initial savings efficiency target of £1.676 million to
balance the budget; numerous savings and income generating

Page 14

-7SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021







opportunities had been identified, and the following had been identified to
help with initial savings target - staff pay would be frozen until 2022; the
New Homes Bonus windfall payment for 2021 had been certified;
expansion of the Garden Waste scheme; receipt of the Council Tax
Support Grant; a number of staff vacancies were being held; receipt of
the Welland Homes dividend. These items totalled just over £1million,
leaving £676,000 savings still to be achieved.
The Base Budget included a Council Tax increase of £4.95 for a Band D
property, a 2% increase in Drainage Board levies, Rural Support Grant
and Rural Services Delivery Grants being paid for an additional year, an
increased cost in Homelessness, and PSPS costs would remain the
same in the forthcoming year as the last.
The HRA forecast a surplus of £1.97million, including the following – a
rent increase of 1.5%, assumed rent loss of 1% and void properties and
1.5% for bad debts. Additional rents arising from new homes acquired
within HRA Capital Programme had been factored in. The HRA was set
to perform well going forward.
Capital Programme – the General Fund Capital Programme totalled
£19.8 million in the medium term, and the HRA £41million.

Moving forward, a new stable post-pandemic operating normality for the
Council would be sought.
A number of community projects were to be undertaken including – Work to
be undertaken to tidy up Spalding Cemetery; a refresh of public toilet
provision; a tree planting programme across parishes; assistance for
parishes with litter picking; establishment of war graves maintenance
programme; and improvements at Ayscoughfee Gardens. The costs would
be met by S106 monies, use of reserves and grant funding. Regeneration
work within Spalding and Holbeach would also continue.
The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy and Partnerships thanked officers
involved in the Budget process, in particular the Executive Director
Commercialisation (S151 Officer), the Strategic Finance and Compliance
Manager, and the Strategic Finance Manager and his colleagues within
PSPS.
The following points were raised:


If the Authority was fortunate enough to receive more outside funding
than anticipated, would the savings programme identified be pursued?
o The Portfolio Holder agreed that further Government grants
would assist the savings programme, but that savings and
efficiencies would still be pursued.



Could assurance be provided that there would be a sufficient human
resource to deliver the ambitious programme?
o The Portfolio Holder responded that staff numbers were

Page 15

-8SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

currently low due to the separation of functions between
Breckland and South Holland as a result of addressing the
Covid pandemic. It was important for South Holland to agree a
new shared management arrangement with a new partner, and
it was hoped that by April/May 2021, the authority would be in
a position to make a decision regarding this, which members
would be involved in.


Could the Portfolio Holder provide costings for the proposed community
projects outlined?
o The Portfolio Holder responded that the Finance Team’s next
project would be to cost out the proposals. It was hoped that
S106 monies, Government or departmental funding, and
potentially some reserves could be identified. Details would be
shared with the Council when they were available.



Had the reductions in travel costs over the last year been quantified?
o The Portfolio Holder responded that savings in this area had
been made, and that they would be identified as part of savings
efficiencies in the forthcoming year.

DECISION:
That Council approves:
a) That the Revenue Estimates for the General Fund, Housing Revenue
Account and Spalding Special Expenses for 2021/22 (Appendices A, B,
and C) be approved;
b) That the use of reserves (Appendix D) be approved;
c) That the Council Tax for a Band A property in 2021/22 be set at £123.12
(a £3.30 per annum increase on 2020/21 levels) and band D £184.68 for
2021/22 (a £4.95 per annum increase on 2020/21 levels);
d) That the Spalding special expense for a Band A property be set at £16.12
for 2021/22, (previously £15.88 in 2020/21) and Band D £24.18 for
2021/22, (previously £23.82 in 2020/21);
e) That the Medium Term Financial Strategy (Appendix B) be approved;
f) That Housing Revenue Account weekly dwelling rents increase by 1.5%
over the previous year, 2020/21, with effect from Monday 5th April 2021.
This is in line with current government guidelines and legislation;
g) That the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme (Appendices E and F)
be approved;
h) That the Treasury Management Strategy, including the Minimum
Revenue Provision policy and Investment Strategy be approved
(Appendix H and I);
i) That the fees and charges shown in appendix G be approved for
adoption from 1st April 2021.

Page 16

-9SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on the
recommendations (Final Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital and
Treasury Strategy). The vote was as follows:

For

Against

Abstain

Apologies/Absent

Councillor Alcock

Councillor
McLean

Councillor Bingham

Councillor Astill

Councillor
Newton

Councillor Gibson

(Recommendation
A)

Councillor Avery

Councillor Slade

Councillor Beal

Councillor Wilkinson

Councillor
Biggadike
Councillor Booth
Councillor Brewis
Councillor Carter
Councillor
Casson
Councillor
Coupland
Councillor Cronin
Councillor Drury
Councillor
Gambba-Jones
Councillor
Grocock
Councillor Hasan
Councillor King
Councillor
Lawton

Page 17

- 10 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

Councillor
Newton
(Recommendation
B – I)

Councillor
Pepper
Councillor Porter
Councillor
Redgate
Councillor
Reynolds
Councillor Rudkin
Councillor
Scalese
Councillor
Seymour
Councillor Sneath
Councillor Taylor
Councillor
Tennant
Councillor Tyrrell
Councillor Walsh
Councillor Woolf
Councillor Worth

(Councillors Gibson and Wilkinson were not in attendance during the vote
due to technical issues, and were therefore unable to participate in the vote).
92.

COUNCIL TAX SETTING 2021/22
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance,
Strategy and Partnerships, and the Executive Director – Commercialisation
(S151), which sought the Council’s approval for the setting of the amounts of
Council Tax applicable for 2021/22 for each valuation band and in each part
of the district.

Page 18

- 11 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

The Portfolio Holder for Finance, Strategy and Partnerships introduced the
report which set out statutory resolutions that the Council needed to approve
in accordance with the Budget set out at agenda item 11.
DECISION:
a) That Council approves the formal Council Tax resolutions for 2021/22 as
set out in Appendix A (and summarised at 1.8) of the report, and
reproduced as below:
b) That Council approves that the charge to be levied on the Council
Taxpayers of Spalding for services provided in their town (Spalding
Special Estimates) will be £226,900 for 2021/22. This equates to a band
D equivalent charge of £24.18 (£23.82 for 2020/21), a 1.51% increase.

1.8

Council Tax Resolutions

The required resolutions for the approval of the levels of Council Tax
are set out at Appendix A. The figures relating to the District Council and the
average of the parishes are summarised in the following table:

Resolution
Ref

3a
3b

Description

Gross
expenditure
Gross
Income

3c

SHDC

Parish
Precept
(incl
Spalding
Special)

Total

£

£

£

36,042,833

1,162,094

37,204,927

30,725,200

0

30,725,200

5,317,633

1,162,094

6,479,727

1a

Tax base

28,794

28,794

28,794

3d 3f

Band D
Council Tax

184.68

40.36

225.04

COUNCIL TAX RESOLUTIONS - APPENDIX A
Council is recommended to approve the following resolutions:
1 It is to be noted that on 16 December 2020 the Council calculated: (a)

the Council Tax Base 2021/22 for the District as 28,794 (item T in the

Page 19

- 12 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

formula in section 31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992,
as amended) and;
(b)

Dwellings in those parts of the district to which a Parish precept
relates as shown in Appendix B

2 Calculate that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own
purposes for 2021/22 (excluding Parish precepts and Spalding Special
Expenses) is £5,317,633
3 That the following amounts be calculated by the Council for the year
2021/22 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992 as amended (the Act): a) £37,204,927

being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(2) of the
Act;

(b) £30,725,200

being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council
estimates for the items set out in Section 31A(3) of the
Act;

(c) £6,479,727

being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) above
exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, calculated by the
Council, in accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act,
as its Council Tax requirement for the year (item R in
the formula in Section 31a (4) of the Act);

(d) £225.04

being the amount at 3(c) divided by the amount at
1(a)(item T), calculated by the Council, in accordance
with Section 31B(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of
Council Tax for the year (including Parish precepts);

(e) £1,162,094

being the aggregate amount of all special items
(Including Parish precepts) referred to in Section 34(1)
of the Act (see Appendix B);

(f) £184.68

being the amount at 3(d) less the result given by
dividing the amount at (e) by the amount at 1(a)
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section
34(2) of the Act, as the basic amount of council tax for
the year for dwellings in those parts

(g) The figures shown in Appendix C, being the amounts given by adding to
the amount at 3(f) the amounts of the special item or items relating to
dwellings in those parts of the district divided in each case by the amount
at 1(b), calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the
Act, as the basic amounts of its Council Tax for the year for dwellings in

Page 20

- 13 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

those parts of its area to which one or more special items relate;
(h) The figures shown in Appendix D, being the amounts given by multiplying
the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) by the number which, in the proportion set
out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a
particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion
is applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by the
Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the Act as the amounts to be
taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed
in different valuation bands.
4 That it be noted that for the year 2020/21 the Lincolnshire County Council
(LCC) and the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Lincolnshire
have stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in
accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992,
for each of the categories of dwellings shown below:-

5

That having calculated the aggregate in each case the amounts at 3(h)
and 4 above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local
Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the amounts shown in
Appendix E as the amount of Council Tax for 2019/20 of the categories
of dwellings shown.

6 Appendix F provides definitions for the formal Council Tax resolution.
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England)
(Amendment) Regulations 2014 a recorded vote was taken on each Budget
decision. The vote was as follows:
For

Against

Abstain

Apologies/Absent

Councillor
Alcock

Councillor
Gibson

Councillor
Newton

Councillor
Bingham

Councillor Astill

Councillor
McLean

Councillor Slade

Councillor
Avery

Councillor
Wilkinson

Page 21

- 14 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

Councillor Beal
Councillor
Biggadike
Councillor
Booth
Councillor
Brewis
Councillor
Carter
Councillor
Casson
Councillor
Coupland
Councillor
Cronin
Councillor
Drury
Councillor
Gambba-Jones
Councillor
Grocock
Councillor
Hasan
Councillor King
Councillor
Lawton
Councillor
Pepper
Councillor
Porter
Councillor
Redgate
Councillor
Reynolds

Page 22

- 15 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

Councillor
Rudkin
Councillor
Scalese
Councillor
Seymour
Councillor
Sneath
Councillor
Taylor
Councillor
Tenant
Councillor
Tyrrell
Councillor
Walsh
Councillor
Woolf
Councillor
Worth

(Councillor Wilkinson was not in attendance during the vote due to technical
issues, and was therefore unable to participate in the vote).
(Councillor Seymour left the meeting following discussion of the above item).
93.

PAY POLICY STATEMENT 21'22
Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director
Commercialisation (S151) which sought approval of the Pay Policy
Statement.
Members were advised that a review was currently taking place of how
Breckland Council and South Holland District Council would work together in
the future, and the details within the statement could therefore change within
the 2021/22 financial year.
AGREED:
That the Pay Policy Statement be approved.

Page 23

- 16 SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 3
March 2021

94.

APPOINTMENT OF RETURNING OFFICER/ELECTORAL REGISTRATION
OFFICER
Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager Governance
(Deputy Monitoring Officer) which sought the designation of an officer as the
Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer to the Council with
immediate effect.
The Portfolio Holder People, Places and Corporate introduced the report.
He advised that the current Returning Officer, Rob Walker, had had to stand
down for personal reasons, and the Portfolio Holder thanked him for his hard
work and service in this role.
AGREED:
a) That Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation, be
appointed Returning Officer and Electoral Registration Officer to the
Council with immediate effect; and
b) That an indemnity be granted to Christine Marshall for any personal
liability arising from her appointment by the Council as Returning Officer
or Electoral Registration Officer.

95.

NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEES AND OTHER SEATS AND
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION.
The following change was reported to the Council:


Councillor Pepper to replace Councillor Grocock as the Council’s Armed
Forces Champion.

DECISION:
That Councillor Pepper’s appointment as the Council’s Armed Forces
Champion, replacing Councillor Grocock, be approved.
96.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT
There were none.

(The meeting ended at 7.57 pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 24

Agenda Item 4.c)
-1-

Minutes of a meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held in line
with the Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local
Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on
Wednesday, 28 April 2021 at 6.30 pm.
PRESENT
F Biggadike (Chairman)
P A Redgate (Vice-Chairman)
B Alcock
J R Astill
J Avery
A C Beal
C J T H Brewis
T A Carter
A Casson
P E Coupland
A C Cronin
R Gambba-Jones
R A Gibson

R Grocock
M Hasan
J L King
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
N H Pepper
G A Porter
J L Reynolds
G T D Rudkin
G P Scalese

M D Seymour
S-A Slade
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
S C Walsh
D J Wilkinson
A R Woolf
C N Worth

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors H J W Bingham
and M D Booth,
In Attendance: The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor, the Executive
Director- Commercialisation (S151), the Executive Manager – Governance, the
Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services Team Leader.
Action By

97.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.
There were none.

98.

CONSTITUTION AND OTHER MATTERS
Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader of the
Council and Portfolio Holder – People, Places and Corporate, and
the Executive Manager – Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)
which asked Council to consider the following:
(a) Variations to the Constitution relating to
(i) the Council's decision to bring the shared management
arrangements between South Holland District Council and
Breckland
District Council to an end;
(ii) virtual meetings;
(iii) delegation arrangements for determining planning
applications;

Page 25

FW

-2SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021

(iv) future structure reviews;
(v) special Council meetings;
(vi) Standing Order no. 29:
(vii) independent persons;
(viii) Full Council terms of reference; and
(ix) Public Sector Partnership Services Limited
amendments; and
(b) the designation of Statutory Officers and Proper Officers.
The Executive Manager – Governance suggested that the
following additional wording be added to the end of the first bullet
point at recommendation 3 – ‘or he ceases to be the Strategic
Advisor, whichever is the sooner’.
Members considered the information, and the following issues
were raised:


With regard to virtual meetings, the Executive Manager
Governance reported that the High Court had, that day, given
its judgement that, in the absence of primary legislation, virtual
meetings could not continue after 6 May 2021. Representative
bodies including Lawyers in Local Government and the
Association of Democratic Services Officers were lobbying
government to legislate for the continuation of remote
meetings. In these circumstances, the report proposed that the
constitutional provisions made for remote meetings be
retained until there was clarity on whether virtual meetings
could continue in the future.
o The Leader responded that he had no concerns with
regard to leaving the proposed changes within the
Constitution, however, any change with regard to the
future of virtual meetings was unlikely to happen soon.
Primary legislation was required for this to happen, and
there was currently no time scheduled within the
parliamentary timetable for this. The Government were
currently consulting with the sector to gain their
feedback on the way forward.



Paragraphs 5.8 - 5.10 within the report referred to Part 3 of the
Constitution (Full Council terms of reference), and the fact that
points (e) and (f) within the Constitution were not correct and
were, in fact, Cabinet functions. Paragraph 5.10 stated that it
was possible for issues referred to at (e) and (f) to go through
a process of consultation with Full Council – members
commented that this should be as a matter of course, rather
than discretionary.

Page 26

-3SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021

o Officers responded that the Council had a Policy
Framework, and that the Policy Framework could be
amended to reflect a situation where the scope of a
service was to change significantly or where a scheme
or a proposal would affect the district as a whole. A
report could be brought to a future meeting to consider
this further.


Members noted that SHDC was retaining the services of the
Strategic Advisor, who was also currently designated as the
Head of Paid Service. The cost for two days per week had
previously been shared between South Holland District
Council and Breckland Council. The two authorities were
shortly due to end their partnership – what was the cost to
South Holland, what proportion of work was undertaken within
the role of Head of Paid Service, and what qualifications were
needed to fulfil the role of Head of Paid Service?
o The Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor
advised that he could share information on the time
allocation of work undertaken since October, detailing
the proportion of time spent undertaking the Head of
Paid Service role. He also confirmed that the original
contract between SHDC and Breckland Council had
been for 2 days per week, and that this contract would
end on 30 April 2021. In its place at SHDC, he would
cover the statutory role of Head of Paid Service, and
undertake work on preferred partner choices for the
authority. This would be for an equivalent of 2 days per
week, which was flexible.
o The Leader stated that the dissolution of the
SHDC/Breckand partnership had been delivered on
time and within budget. Some of the work that had
been undertaken on that project would assist in
identifying what was required from any new partnership.
Although it was a requirement for the authority to have
a Head of Paid Service, the majority of work to be
undertaken by the officer related to prospective future
partnership arrangements.
o In response to what qualifications were required for the
role of Head of Paid Service, members were advised
that no professional qualification was needed however,
suitable knowledge and experience was essential.



Members commented that it would be difficult to make a
decision on recommendation 3 without knowing details of the
cost to the Council.

Page 27

-4SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021



o The Leader advised that the cost would be within the
scope of costs agreed to date. If members wished to
discuss this in more detail, it would be necessary to do
this in exempt session, due to the consideration of
personal financial information.
Members responded that it was important that Councillors
were aware of the figures involved as the cost would now be
met by only SHDC. It was a financial commitment and it was
important to be aware of how long this was anticipated to last.
Discussion of the information within closed session was
therefore needed.
o The Leader responded that it was anticipated that the
interim arrangements would operate for no longer than
four weeks, and that the cost of this had been included
within the original contract. If, at the end of this period,
a new partner had not been found, a further report
would be brought to Council as certain decisions would
be needed, including consideration of the appointment
of a temporary Chief Executive.

As members wished to discuss exempt information, the Executive
Manager – Governance suggested that members vote on all
recommendations, with the exception of those at recommendation
3. The meeting would then go into exempt session to discuss the
relevant information after which the meeting would then move
back into open session to vote on the recommendations at item 3.
This approach was agreed by members.
A roll-call vote was undertaken on all recommendations, with the
exception of recommendation 3. There were 34 votes for the
recommendations, with no votes against and no absentions.
DECISION:
That the following variations to the Constitution be approved:
Variations arising from the decision to bring the shared
management arrangements between South Holland District
Council and Breckland District Council to an end:
(1) That, following the decision by Full Council at its meeting on
24 February 2021 to terminate the Memorandum of Agreement
entered into by South Holland District Council and Breckland
District Council and to approve an interim staffing structure, the
Constitution be amended as follows with effect from 1 May 2021:
(a) reference to the Council's joint arrangements with
Breckland District Council be removed as detailed in

Page 28

-5SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021

Appendices A and B to the report; and
(b) a new joint Committee, called the "Shared Memorandum
of Agreement Committee" be appointed in order to deal with
any disputes submitted to it in accordance with sections 8
(termination and review of joint arrangements) or 11 (dispute
resolution) of the Memorandum of Agreement dated 1 April
2011, with terms of reference as detailed in Appendix C to
this report, and the Constitution be further amended to take
this into account, as also shown in Appendix C; and
(c) the terms of reference of the Appeals Panel be amended
as shown in Appendix D to the report; and
(2) That, until such time as the Council appoints a further
independent person for the purposes of attending any committee
that considers the proposed dismissal of the Head of the Paid
Service, Monitoring Officer, or the Section 151 Officer, the Council
continues to use the independent person appointed by Breckland
District Council, as reflected in Appendix B to the report; and
(3) (Note – recommendation 3 of the report dealt with at minute
100 below);
(4) That the existing Proper Officer appointments be amended as
shown in the final column of the table at Appendix E; and
(5) The reference to "Senior Legal Officer" in the Glossary of
Terms (Definitions Relating to Staff) be amended to refer to the
Assistant Director Governance; and
(6) That the Strategic Finance and Compliance Manager be
appointed as the Senior Information Risk Officer and paragraph
6.3 of Part 3 Section F3 of the Constitution be amended
accordingly; and
(7) That:
(a) the Heading to Part 3 Section F4 of the Constitution be
amended to read as follows:
Delegations to Senior Legal Officer, Solicitor to the Council
and the Service Manager responsible for legal services.
(b) the Heading to Part 3 Section F5 of the Constitution be
amended to read as follows:
Delegations to the Assistant Director responsible for

Page 29

-6SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021

strategic growth
Issues Arising from Covid
(8) That the amendments to the Council's Standing Orders and
Access to Information Procedure Rules, approved by Full Council
at its meeting on 13 May 2020 to allow virtual meetings to be
held, remain within the Constitution unless and until (if applicable)
the law is clear that virtual meetings can no longer lawfully be
held, at which time the Senior Legal Officer be authorised to
remove such amendments from the Constitution (with the
exception of Standing Order 14.1 the amendment to which will
remain) without the need for a further report; and
(9) That the temporary delegation arrangements for determining
planning applications approved at Full Council on 13 May 2020
and extended by Council on 25 November 2020 be further
extended to apply until the Council meeting to be held on 24
November 2021 (or the next Council meeting after that date if that
meeting is, for any reason, cancelled) subject to the amendments
shown in Appendix F to the report; and
Future Structure Reviews
(10) That, with a view to reducing the necessity for multiple
Constitutional amendments following any future structure reviews,
the Constitution be amended as follows:
(a) the amendments shown in Appendix G be approved in
order to clarify when officers can make minor changes to the
Constitution which are essentially administrative; and
(b) statutory officer references at paragraph 1.4 of Article 11
of the Constitution be amended in accordance with the
details included in Appendix H to the report; and
(c) the following generic definitions be added to the Glossary
of Terms (Definitions Relating to Staff) :


"Directors" means tier 2 officers (immediately below the
post of Chief Executive, whether or not a Chief
Executive is actually in post). Currently the Executive
Directors.



"Assistant Directors" means tier 3 officers (immediately
below the Directors). Currently the Assistant Directors.



"Service Managers" means tier 4 officers (immediately

Page 30

-7SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021

below the Assistant Directors) who manage each
service unit. Currently the Service Managers.
(d) all references to "Executive Directors(s)" within the
Constitution be amended to read "Director(s)"; and
(e) all references to "Executive Manager(s)" within the
Constitution be amended to read "Assistant Director(s)"; and
(f) all references to "Senior Managers" within the
Constitution be amended to read "Service Manager(s)"; and
(11) That, for clarification, the following definitions be added to the
Glossary of Terms (Definitions Relating to Staff):


"Electoral Registration Officer" means the officer
appointed under section 8 of the Representation of the
People Act 1983. The Electoral Registration Officer is
currently Christine Marshall - Executive Director
Strategy and Resources.



"Returning Officer" means the officer appointed under
section 35 of the Representation of the People Act
1983. The Electoral Registration Officer is currently
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Strategy and
Resources.

(12) That Rule 2.2.1 (j) of the Contract Procedure Rules be
amended to refer to the Senior Legal Officer in place of the
Executive Manager Governance; and
Other Proposed Amendments to the Constitution
(13) That the Constitution be amended to clarify the four types of
Full Council meetings in accordance with the details shown at
Appendix I of the report; and
(14) That Standing Order No. 29 (conflict between Council and
Executive) be deleted as the issue is repeated more fully in
Standing Order no. 63 and 64, and that Standing Order no. 29A
be renumbered No. 29; and
(15) That statutory Standing Order no. 60A relating to
independent persons be added, and the terms of reference of the
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee be amended so as to
refer to Standing Order no. 60A, as detailed in Appendix J; and
(16) That paragraphs (e) and (f) of term of reference number 3 of
the Full Council at Part 3 of the Constitution be deleted; and

Page 31

-8SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021

(17) That the Constitution be amended as shown in Appendix K
following the extension of the partnership arrangements which
comprises Public Sector Partnership Services Limited to include
Boston Borough Council.
99.

EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
DECISION:
Under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the
press and public were excluded from the meeting for the following
item of business on the grounds that it involved the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 1 and
3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

100. CONSTITUTION AND OTHER MATTERS

With regard to the Strategic Advisor and Head of Paid Service,
members were provided with information regarding the
contractual and financial position relating to the Strategic
Advisor/Head of Paid Service.
To date, there had been no requirement to undertake any work
specifically in his capacity as Head of Paid Service. It was noted
that this was a statutory role and an appointment to this position
was therefore required. The work undertaken over the last few
months had been within the role as Strategic Advisor.
(The meeting returned to open session at this juncture).
DECISION:
That the following variation to the Constitution be approved:
(3) That the following statutory designations be formally made to
apply with effect from 1 May 2021:





Head of Paid Service – Nathan Elvery (on an interim
basis until such time as the Council designates or
appoints a permanent Head of Service, or he ceases to
be the Strategic Advisor, whichever is the sooner)
Monitoring Officer - Mark Stinson - Assistant Director
Governance
Section 151 Officer - Christine Marshall - Executive
Director Strategy and Resources

and the Glossary of Terms (Definitions Relating to Staff) be

Page 32

FW

-9SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 28 April 2021

amended accordingly.

(The meeting ended at 7.15 pm)
(End of minutes)

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Issued – 11 May 2021

KEY DECISION PLAN

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision
is likely to be made, to:
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk
The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

Page 35

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period from the date of publication of
any decision.
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

1

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION

Agenda Item 11.

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for HRA &
Private Sector
Housing

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

Fire door replacement and associated
fire compliance works to sheltered
schemes

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Assistant Director
Housing, or any other
officer with delegation
Before 31 May 2021

Fire door and
Compliance
contract

Page 36

Portfolio Holder
for HRA &
Private Sector
Housing

To procure a contractor to undertake
painting and repairs to the Councils
housing stock

Assistant Director
Housing, or any other
officer with delegation
Before 31 May 2021

Painting and
Repairs
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

Acquisition of existing property.

Portfolio Holder for Assets
& Planning, or Leader
Before 31 May 2021

Property
acquisition to
support Housing
Options service
delivery

2

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for HRA &
Private Sector
Housing

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

Funding has been made available to
improve the energy efficiency to
homes within South Holland.

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Assistant Director
Housing, or any other
officer with delegation
Before 31 May 2021

Energy efficiency
works to council
properties

Page 37

Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

To present the business case
associated with the acquisition.

Cabinet 13 Jul 2021, or
Leader
South Holland District
Council 28 Jul 2021

Acquisition
project to
purchase units in
Weston
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

To set out details of the potential for
the authority to acquire three s106
homes for affordable rent tenure, on a
development site in the district.

Cabinet 13 Jul 2021, or
Leader
South Holland District
Council 28 Jul 2021

Acquisition
Project to
purchase s106
rented units

3

PORTFOLIO
HOLDER /
SUBJECT
Portfolio Holder
for Assets &
Planning

PURPOSE OF DECISION

CONSULTEES AND
METHOD OF
CONSULTATION

To agree a framework for future HRA
housing development investment
decisions.

LIKELY DATE OF
DECISION AND WHO
WILL MAKE DECISION
Cabinet 13 Jul 2021, or
Leader
South Holland District
Council 28 Jul 2021

HRA
Development
Framework
Portfolio Holder
for Communities
& Facilities

SUPPORTING
DOCUMENTS

Page 38

To set out the contractual position and
a range of potential options for
consideration for the Leisure
Management contract

Cabinet 13 Jul 2021, or
Leader
South Holland District
Council 28 Jul 2021

COVID
Implications on
the leisure
operating
contract

*Cabinet Membership

4

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor H Drury (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor E J Sneath (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder)

If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Page 39

Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Cabinet

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 19 May 2021

(Author:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader)

Subject

Report from Cabinet meeting held on 27 April 2021

Purpose:

To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:
a) Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire eight s106
affordable homes on a development site in the district (Cabinet agenda item 8
and exempt item 13) (Cabinet minute 80);
b) Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account - To set out
details of the potential for the authority to acquire twelve new build homes for
Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the district (Cabinet agenda
item 9 and exempt item 14) (Cabinet minute 81);
c) Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach Road,
Spalding - To present a business case to Cabinet and to present to Council,
as sole shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, a proposal from the company to
purchase six houses for the purposes of market rental investment and an
updated Welland Homes Business Plan (Cabinet agenda item 10 and exempt
item 15) (Cabinet minute 82).

Recommendations:
a) Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account
1) To amend the Capital Programme to identify the project as an approved scheme in the
2021/22 Budget
b) Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account
2) To amend the Capital Programme to identify this project as an approved scheme in the
2021/22 Budget
c) Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach Road, Spalding
3) That the updated Welland Homes Business Plan be approved, and included as an
amendment in the next SHDC Quarterly report to members
4) To reaffirm the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25 March 2015, to the
Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to approve the final mix of
use of reserves and borrowing in line with the business plan and Council Treasury
Management Strategy

Page 41

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides that only the full Council may exercise the
functions of approving, adopting or amending the policy framework and budget, and
adopting or changing the Constitution, Staffing matters are also a Council function. The
Cabinet however has responsibility for advising the Council on such matters. At its meeting
on 27 April 2021, the Cabinet made recommendations to Council in respect of the above
item which may affect budget and policy framework, Constitution or comprise staffing
issues.

1.2

The remainder of this report details the recommendations of the Cabinet which must be
read in conjunction with the individual reports to Cabinet, copies of which are attached as
appendices.

1.3

Due to their confidential nature, please note the following:




2.0

Cabinet agenda item 8 (Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing
Revenue Account) – the exempt appendix is enclosed at agenda item 17;
Cabinet agenda item 9 (Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account) – the
exempt appendix is enclosed at agenda item 18.
Cabinet agenda item 10 ( Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating
Holbeach Road, Spalding) – the exempt appendices are enclosed at agenda item 19

Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Item 8 attached)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning and
the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which set out details of the
potential for the authority to acquire eight s106 affordable homes on a development site in
the district.
DECISION:
a) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of eight homes within
Surfleet for the HRA;
b) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) to agree the
contractual matters (including any terms and conditions which may represent a minor
variation to the scheme approved in the business case) such as signing the
contract/transfer document and other incidental actions that may be required and
approving the associated due diligence and valuation required to purchase the
properties;
(Other options considered:


Do nothing – under this option, the authority would not proceed to purchase the
properties, and as a consequence, the expected benefits listed in Section 9 of the
report would not be realised. Officers would seek to identify alternative appropriate
schemes for consideration.
Reasons for decision:
 A return on investment, and the generation of capital receipts from the sale of the initial
tranche of shared ownership properties;
 The delivery of eight additional dwellings into the HRA;

Page 42






Meeting housing need;
The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy;
The new homes could be part-funded from the time limited Right to Buy receipts; and
Market confidence.)

(The Leader left the meeting at the start of consideration of this item, and did not return to
the meeting).
3.0

Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Item 9 attached)
Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning and
the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151 Officer), which set out details of the
potential for the authority to acquire twelve new build homes for Affordable Rent tenure, on
a development site in the district.
Officers confirmed that the purchase price had been agreed with the developer, that this
was below the market value, but that the total capital cost to the authority took the price
above market value. An appropriate amount for due diligence and on-costs had been
included in the financial evaluation, and as part of usual processes, best value for the
authority was being sought, to ensure on-costs could be reduced as much as possible.
DECISION:
a) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of twelve homes for the
HRA;
b) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) to agree the funding
and contractual matters (including any terms and conditions which may represent a
minor variation to the scheme approved in the business case) such as signing the
contract/transfer document, making an application for Homes England grant funding,
utilising Right to Buy sales receipts for this project and other incidental actions that may
be required and approving the associated due diligence and valuation required to
purchase the properties;
(Other options considered:


Do nothing – under this option, the authority would not proceed to purchase the
properties, and as a consequence, the expected benefits listed in Section 9 of the
report would not be realised. Officers would seek to identify alternative appropriate
schemes for consideration.
Reasons for decision:
 A return on investment;
 The delivery of twelve additional dwellings into the HRA;
 Meeting housing need;
 The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy;
 The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited Right to Buy receipts;
 Alternatively, in lieu of utilising Right to Buy receipts, the new homes could be partfunded via Homes England grant funding,
 Additional funding streams will improve the financial performance of the project; and
 Market confidence.)

Page 43

4.0

Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach Road, Spalding
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Item 10 attached).
Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151
Officer) which presented a business case to Cabinet, and presented to Council, as sole
shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, a proposal from the Company to purchase six houses
for the purposes of market rental investment and an updated Welland Homes Business
Plan.
DECISION:
a) To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland Homes Ltd of six houses,
for the purposes of a market rental investment;
b) That, subject to the refreshed business plan and budget being approved by the Council
in accordance with recommendation (c) below, delegated authority be granted to the
Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to (i) approve the terms of
any loan agreements required; (ii) approve the value and the profile of any periodic
cash flow payments to be made to the Company, as required to support the Company
in the acquisition of the proposed investment properties;
(Other options considered:


Do nothing – without the approval of the shareholder, Welland Homes would be
unable to proceed with the proposed investment. This in turn would limit the
delivery of housing from Welland Homes under the existing Business Plan and
leave the Company unable to deliver forecasted returns.
Reasons for decision:
 Support the delivery of the wider Welland Homes Business Plan, which would in
turn support the delivery of savings targets set out in the Council’s Medium Term
Financial Plan;
 Increase housing supply to address demand;
 Boost to the local economy;
 Improve the quality of rented sector accommodation;
 Generate income for the Council.)
Background papers:- None
Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader
cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

Appendices attached to this report:
Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account
Appendix A

Cabinet Agenda Item 8

Page 44

Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account
Appendix B

Cabinet Agenda Item 9

Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach Road, Spalding
Appendix C

Cabinet Agenda Item 10

Exempt appendices:
Appendix D

The exempt appendix to Cabinet agenda item 8 (Acquisition of S106
affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account) is attached at
agenda item 17.

Appendix E

The exempt appendix to Cabinet agenda item 9 (Acquisition of
housing for the Housing Revenue Account) is attached at agenda
item 18

Appendix F

The exempt appendices to Cabinet agenda item 10 (Welland Homes
Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach Road, Spalding) are
attached at agenda item 19

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning
Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Cabinet – 27th April 2021

To:

Council – May 2021
Author:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager

Subject:

Acquisition of S106 affordable housing for the Housing Revenue Account

Purpose:

To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire eight s106
affordable homes on a development site in the district.

Recommendations to Cabinet:
1) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of eight homes within Surfleet for
the HRA.
2) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) to agree the contractual
matters (including any terms and conditions which may represent a minor variation to the
scheme approved in the business case) such as signing the contract/transfer document and
other incidental actions that may be required and approving the associated due diligence
and valuation required to purchase the properties.
Recommendations to Council:
3) To amend the Capital Programme to identify the project as an approved scheme in the
2021/22 Budget.
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In the last 5 years South Holland District Council has increased investment in new housing
within the district and more recently has strengthened the capacity of the Strategic Housing
Development team. This team appraises potential acquisition and development schemes;
project manages on site delivery; and oversees the handover of new homes into
management for South Holland’s various delivery vehicles.

1.2

Since 2017/18, the Council has supported ten new development schemes:
Scheme
name

Delivery
vehicle

Walters
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

Number
of
dwellings
15

Timescale

Development type

Status

Properties
completed
2017/18

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

1

Page 47

1.3

Tennants
Close,
Long
Sutton

Welland
Homes

5

Properties
completed
2018/19

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Pankhurst
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

10

Properties
completed in
May 2019.

Welland Homes
design and build
contract.

Complete

Acquisition
of S106
homes
from
Ashwood
(Moulton,
Cowbit,
Donington)

HRA

18

Properties
completing in
phases from
March 2019 to
March 2020.

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.

Properties
complete.
End of
defects
stage.

Small
Drove,
Weston

HRA

34

Deadline to
complete
properties is
March 2021
(as per Homes
England grant
terms).

Design and build
contract.

In
progress

Bentley
Court,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

5

Purchase
Complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Donington
HRA
market
acquisitions

7

Purchase
complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Wignals
Gate,
Holbeach

HRA

19

Properties
completing in
phases from
October 20 to
October 2022

In
progress

Northons
Lane,
Holbeach

Welland
Homes

4

Properties
completing
April 2021

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Cobgate,
Whaplode

HRA

7

Properties due
to complete
Jan – March
2022

Acquisition of
completed S106
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on OMV.

In
progress

In
progress

The SHDC Housing Development team has been seeking new development opportunities.
This has involved liaison with agents, property developers and housing associations that
are delivering mixed-tenure schemes within the district. Through these discussions, a new
scheme to provide eight S106 affordable homes at Surfleet has been identified.
2

Page 48

2.0

SCHEME BUSINESS CASE

2.1

Officers have liaised with a local developer regarding the acquisition of eight two-bedroom
dwellings which is the entire commitment of S.106 affordable housing on the development
at Station Road, Surfleet.

2.2

The units consist of a row of four two-bedroom terraced dwellings for Affordable Rent
tenure together with four semi-detached dwellings for shared ownership. The site has
Planning consent and accordingly the layout and mix of dwellings and tenures has been
approved by SHDC.

2.3

As the homes have been designated as affordable homes in the Planning consent, they
have been designed specifically for that purpose and accordingly are considered
appropriate for the HRA.

2.4

The SHDC Housing Management team have been consulted regarding the scheme and are
supportive of SHDC taking additional homes in this location. They have indicated that the
delivery of these homes would meet housing need as evidenced a Section 6 below.

2.5

Accelerating the delivery of new homes for the HRA will mitigate the impact on the HRA
business plan of the loss of homes through RTB sales. However, it should be noted that if
these properties are purchased and let as affordable homes, the Right To Buy (RTB) will
also apply to these properties. In the event of a RTB application, the ‘cost floor’ rule will
ensure that a tenant’s discount does not reduce the RTB sale price below the amount that
has been spent on the property in the 15 years prior to RTB; this includes the capital costs
of acquisition.

2.6

The details of the eight homes at the centre of this business case are detailed in the table
below.
Location

Plot Type

Tenure

Station
Road,
Surfleet

10

Shared
Ownership
Shared
Ownership
Affordable
Rent
Affordable
Rent
Affordable
rent
Affordable
Rent
Shared
Ownership
Shared
Ownership

18

2 bed semi-detached
house
2 bed semi-detached
house
2 bed end terrace house

19

2 bed mid terrace house

20

2 bed mid terrace house

21

2 bed end terrace house

27

2 bed semi-detached
house
2 bed semi-detached
house
8

11

28

TOTAL
**Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.
3

Page 49

Indicative handover
date
May 2021**
May 2021**
July 2021**
July 2021**
July 2021**
July 2021**
May 2021**
May 2021**

2.7

Officers have undertaken a business planning exercise for the delivery of these eight
homes which is provided as a financial evaluation at Appendix A.

2.8

An offer has been made to the developer subject to contract, legal due diligence, and full
approval. This offer has been accepted.

2.9

A formal valuation has been completed on these units by a RICS accredited valuer, which
confirms that the offer price represents good value for money.

2.10

The financial assessment assumes that the Affordable Rented tenure homes will be let at
80% of the local market rent value or at the Local Housing Allowance in accordance with
the S106 agreement. Homes England stipulate a requirement to approve Affordable Rents
being charged on any site which is not grant funded. However, this consent is likely to be
forthcoming. Officers will submit a request to Homes England as part of the due diligence
process. The S106 agreement allows the rented homes to be provided as Affordable Rent
or Social Rent tenure. In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the
homes to be provided as Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be
provided as Social Rent tenure instead. This creates a risk as set out in paragraph 11.4.4.

2.11

In terms of the overall Capital Programme for HRA Housing Development, there is total
approved provision of £13m for schemes subject to detailed approval for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25. To date one HRA scheme has been approved. Accordingly, there is
still sufficient capacity to deliver this project.

2.12

Officers will negotiate a contract for the purchase of these properties which seeks to
provide the most advantageous position for the authority. A solicitor will be appointed to
act on SHDC’s behalf in order to ensure thorough due diligence will be undertaken, prior to
entering contract.

2.13

Given the nature of the homes as S106 affordable housing and the construction stage they
are at (due to practically complete in May 2021), the authority will have limited influence
over the style and construction methodology of the properties. However, they will have to
be delivered in accordance with the contract and with all appropriate regulatory certification
in place. In addition, the properties will be required to benefit from a NHBC/LABC warranty
for a minimum of 10 years. These key documents will be listed within the contract and will
need to be provided prior to completion taking place. The quality of the homes will also be
checked by a Buyers Representative appointed to act in the authority’s best interests.

2.14

In the event, that the homes are not constructed in accordance with the terms of the
contract, the authority will not have to purchase the homes. Officers will maintain regular
contact with the developers through the build process to seek to ensure where possible that
the homes are delivered as agreed and the properties will be required to be provided with a
Warranty for a minimum of 10 years to provide additional insurance

2.15

The process of due diligence may impact contract negotiations as more information is
identified about the scheme. The contract is a negotiation between parties and officers will
endeavour to negotiate the best position for the authority throughout. Any elements that
are different to those assumed at approval will be reviewed as part of the due diligence
review and approved by the Section 151 Officer in their role to agree the contractual
matters to purchase the properties.

2.16

The development consists of 32 homes in total with both adopted roadways and private
shared driveways present. The developer has confirmed that no management company
4

Page 50

charge will be applicable to the dwellings contained in this report. The developer has
confirmed that affordable homes will not be party to any management company which may
be established for the remainder of the site, or any additional service charges.
3.0

SHARED OWNERSHIP SALES

3.1

The proposed acquisition includes four shared ownership homes. The Council has already
approved the delivery of 29 shared ownership properties on other sites across the district
which have been selling well. Officer delegations relating to the sale of shared ownership
properties are set out in paragraph 11.1.4 of this report.

3.2

The specialisms surrounding the marketing and sale of the shared ownership homes is
provided by an external agent, Platform Housing Group, following a procurement exercise.

3.3

The financial appraisal provided at Appendix A assumes an initial sale tranche of 35% of
the value of the shared ownership dwellings. This is based on learning from other SHDC
shared ownership sales which has indicated that smaller initial shares are more likely to be
affordable to households in the district.

3.4

The purchaser of any Shared Ownership property is required to buy as much of an initial
share as they can afford and as such if the purchasers can afford more, a larger tranche
will be sold to them resulting in additional cash receipts at initial sale and an improvement
on the financial performance of the scheme. Additionally, if purchasers cannot afford a
35% initial share, they will be able to purchase 25% or more of the market value.

3.5

This site is within a Designated Protected Area. However, as the authority will not be
seeking Homes England capital grant funding, it is not necessary to apply to Homes
England for a waiver to enable the purchasers of any shared ownership homes to staircase
to full home ownership. Accordingly, the lease agreement will enable the purchasers of the
shared ownership homes to staircase to full home ownership in due course.

3.6

It is recognised that the value of the units will fluctuate through the life of the project, just as
the housing market fluctuates. A valuation will be carried out at various points: prior to
purchase; at completion of shared ownership properties if required; and annually once the
homes are in ownership to ensure that officers monitor the assets in a robust manner. The
offer for these properties has been based on a formal valuation that has been received and
reviewed.

3.7

For rented units the findings of a valuation do not impact on the return generated by the
units because the open market values are not part of the appraisal inputs. However, for the
Shared ownership homes, the open market values will impact on the sale price of the
homes and subsequently, the income received through the shared ownership rental stream
(as this is determined by the unsold equity).

3.8

In November 2020, MHCLG launched a consultation seeking views on how best to
implement a new model for Shared Ownership. The outcome of this consultation is not yet
known. However, officers will monitor any changes to legislation or advice provided by
MHCLG or Homes England. Officers have modelled this scheme on the existing shared
ownership model.

3.9

Whilst it is proposed that this project will be delivered on the existing shared ownership
model, there is a risk that the delivery of shared ownership homes on other sites which are
based on the ‘new’ version of shared ownership may be more desirable to prospective
5

Page 51

purchasers. This could impact the desirability of homes built under the existing shared
ownership model. The proposal for the new model includes some repairs liability for the
landlord and the flexibility to purchase a smaller first tranche as well as smaller increments.
Officers are monitoring the roll out of the new model and will be seeking to market the four
dwellings on this site promptly once within contract.
3.10

Sale of the shared ownership dwellings is dependent upon timely registration of SHDC’s
ownership of the homes, by the Land Registry, upon completion of the acquisition. Delays
with registration have been experienced recently as a result of national lock-down
restrictions. In order to mitigate this potential external delay, officers will seek to submit the
application to register the sale immediately following purchase. If a dwelling has been
reserved there is a route by which a request can be made to expedite the application at the
Land Registry, and this will be requested if appropriate. This then gives time for the
registration to occur concurrently with the onward conveyancing to identified purchasers.

4.0

RIGHT TO BUY SALES RECEIPTS

4.1

On the 19th March 2021, Government published its response to a consultation on
the use of receipts from RTB sales. The consultation response sets out changes to the
RTB receipts system to help local authorities build more council homes. The reforms seek
to give authorities substantially increased flexibilities.

4.2

The changes include extending the timeframe that local authorities have for spending RTB
receipts from 3 years to 5 years; the ability to utilise the receipt for a higher percentage of a
project’s costs; enabling shared ownership tenure dwellings to be funded by receipts;
introducing a cap on the use of RTB receipts for acquisition projects.

4.3

This business case does not take account of the newly published reforms. Appendix A
provides a financial evaluation assuming both that RTB receipts are used to part-fund the
rented dwellings and that RTB receipts are not utilised to fund any dwellings.

5.0

Key Considerations

5.1

There are a number of key matters to consider relating to this scheme which are as follows:


An offer for the dwellings has been submitted and accepted by the developer.



The units are designated s106 affordable homes and as such they are restricted to
use as affordable homes.



RTB receipts held by SHDC could be utilised for this project. Accordingly, if the
RTB receipts part-fund the acquisitions, the return to SHDC will increase as the
direct capital invested decreases.



This project has been financially modelled both with and without utilising RTB
receipts (as shown in Appendix A). The modelling for utilising RTB receipts is
based on the criteria for the use of RTB receipts prior to the announcement of 19th
March (as referenced in Section 4). For the avoidance of doubt this means that the
modelling assumes RTB receipts will be applied to rented dwellings and will support
30% of project costs. If, as part of the due diligence process, a decision is made to
utilise RTB receipts based on the reformed RTB scheme the financial return to the
authority is likely to improve as more receipts could be utilised.

6

Page 52



The Housing Strategy & Enabling Officer has confirmed that there is housing need
identified in this location for two-bedroom accommodation and Housing Services
Manager has been consulted on the project and is supportive of the acquisition.



The financial appraisal assumes that four units are let as Affordable Rent tenure.
This means that Homes England will be required to approve the charging of
Affordable Rent and if the scheme is supported by Members a request will be made
to Homes England to confirm this tenure can be applied.



It is acknowledged that this is not the only scheme which the authority could pursue
and that there are other development sites in the district. However, this business
case should be considered on the basis of the scheme specific information
provided.

6.0

HOUSING NEED

6.1

New affordable homes contribute towards meeting housing need in the district.

6.2

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment identifies a need for 282 new affordable homes
to be provided in the district each year.

6.3

On average, 67 new affordable homes (including rented and shared ownership) have been
provided in the district each year (2016/17 to 2020-21) by SHDC and other Registered
Providers. Between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021, there were 103 affordable housing
completions in the district, 46 of which were for rent.

6.4

It is anticipated that the demand for affordable housing will increase as a result of the
pandemic. Analysis of the SHDC Housing Register indicates that the number of applicants
on the register has increased from 350 at the end of March 2020 to 460 at mid-April
2021. Additionally, an increased number of people are unable to address their housing
need once they are threatened with homelessness and are therefore presenting as
homeless.

6.5

The housing register indicates demand for 28 two-bedroom homes within Surfleet and 125
for the district as a whole, as at April 2021.

7.0

PROPOSED TIMETABLE

7.1

If this scheme is supported, the proposed timetable for future activity is as follows:
Indicative date
April 2021

Activity
Cabinet

May 2021

Council

July 2021
July 2021 *

Exchange on contract
Completion. Handover
of properties
End of Defects

July 2022

Decision
To approve the business case for the
acquisition of the properties.
To delegate authority to sign the
contract documentation to S151
Officer or similar, subject to
satisfactory legal due diligence.
To amend the Capital Programme to
approve the spend for this project.
Delegated to Officers.
Delegated to Officers
Delegated to Officers

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

7

Page 53

8.0 OPTIONS
8.1

Option 1: To approve the business case for the purchase of eight s106 affordable
homes; to delegate authority to Officers to conclude the due diligence and complete
the purchase; to amend the HRA Capital Programme.
Under this option, due diligence and contract negotiations would be undertaken, and
external legal services commissioned. SHDC would exchange on the contract, with the
purchase and transfer to occur once the properties are complete.

8.2

Option 2: Do Nothing.
Under this option, the authority would not proceed to purchase the properties. As a
consequence, the expected benefits listed in Section 9 will not be realised. Officers would
seek to identify alternative appropriate schemes for consideration by Cabinet and Council.

9.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

9.1

The recommendations to proceed with the purchase of eight affordable homes relates to
the expected benefits detailed in section 10.

10.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

10.1

It is anticipated that the report recommendations will support the realisation of the following
benefits:


A return on investment, and the generation of capital receipts from the sale of
the initial tranche of shared ownership properties. As set out within the
financial evaluation (Appendix A), there is a positive business case associated with
the proposed investment.



The delivery of 8 additional dwellings into the HRA. These homes meet the
needs of those who require low cost rented and shared ownership accommodation.



Meeting housing need. The homes proposed will meet housing need in a location
where there is evidence of a need for additional affordable homes.



The replacement of homes sold through RTB. On average, 23 Council homes
have been purchased by tenants each year since 2017, by virtue of the RTB. Since
1st April 2020, a further 14 properties have been sold to tenants. The delivery of
new affordable homes can replace those homes lost each year, mitigating the
impact of these losses on the HRA business plan.



The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited RTB receipts.
Investing the RTB receipts on new rented housing ensures that the receipts do not
have to be returned to Government. Additionally, the return to SHDC will increase
as the direct capital invested decreases.



Market confidence. The Council acting as a proactive purchaser of s106
properties, will provide confidence to local developers of the authority’s aspiration to
facilitate sites to come forward and maintain demand for S.106 affordable homes in
the district.

8

Page 54

11.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or
more of these headings, these are identified below.

11.1

Constitutional & Legal

11.1.1 Approving the business case for this project is an Executive function.
11.1.2 Council will be asked to consider amending the Capital Programme to allocate the budget
for this project.
11.1.3 As per previous s106 acquisitions, the legal support for the contract negotiations and
purchase will be provided by an external firm.
11.1.4 As per the decision of the Portfolio Holder for HRA and Private Sector Housing regarding
Shared Ownership sales, which became effective from 3rd September 2019, the following
delegations regarding Shared Ownership sales are already in place and will apply to this
scheme:


That authority be delegated to officers to fulfil all necessary activities concerning initial
sales, purchase of additional shares and resales of individual shared ownership
properties to leaseholders.
 That authority be delegated to the Executive Manager – Property and Development, to
agree the value of shared ownership properties at initial sale, resale, and acquisition of
additional shares.
 That authority be delegated to the Executive Manager – Governance to approve and
sign any mortgage offer.
 That authority be delegated to the Senior Legal Officer (as defined in the Constitution currently the Executive Manager – Governance) and any officer authorised by the
Executive Manager – Governance to sign any contracts/agreements which form part of
the Shared Ownership sale and stair-casing procedures which are not under seal.
11.2

Contracts

11.2.1 A contract will be required between SHDC and the developer. The handover of each
property will take place as the homes are ready to be occupied. The contract will contain a
list of requirements and the properties will not be purchased until these requirements have
been met. Additionally, SHDC will appoint a Buyers Representative to provide quality
assurance at handover.
11.3

Corporate Priorities

11.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your Home’.
11.3.2 The scheme supports “delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and aspirations.”

9

Page 55

11.3.3 The recommendations also support the Council’s objective to “ensure that our residents are
enabled to live in high-quality housing no matter the tenure.”
11.4

Financial

11.4.1 There is a detailed financial evaluation with financial implications set out in confidential
Appendix A.
11.4.2 In terms of financial capacity, there is a total approved capital provision of £13m in the
Capital Programme for the acquisition of new affordable homes by the HRA, for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25.
11.4.3 The Executive will decide whether to support the business case for this project. Council will
consider amending the Capital Programme to include this scheme as an approved scheme.
Both approvals will be necessary for this scheme to proceed.
11.4.4 In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the homes to be provided as
Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be provided as Social Rent
tenure instead. This creates a risk that the anticipated financial return will be lower as the
rental income for social rented housing is lower. Sensitivity analysis has been prepared
which indicates that the scheme will still provide a positive financial return if the properties
are provided as Social Rent tenure.
11.5

Reputation

11.5.1 Risks around reputation are mitigated through a robust project management structure. The
Housing Development team work closely with colleagues in Communications on all projects
and meet on a regular basis to ensure that a Communications Plan is in place where
appropriate.
11.5.2 Regular engagement with the developer will be arranged once the site is in progress and
quality assurance will be carried out by an externally appointed Buyers Representative.
11.6

Risk Management

11.6.1 Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. Officers strive to identify
and manage risk at each stage of the project.
11.6.2 Each project has a risk register that is reviewed throughout the lifecycle of a project by the
Project team.
11.6.3 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited
valuation advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the project.
11.6.4 There are specific risks associated with the delivery of shared ownership. A review of these
was summarised in Portfolio Holder decision which became effective from 3rd September
2019. The decision report reviewed the risks associated with shared ownership including:


If a leaseholder secures a mortgage on a property it will be the first charge. In the
event of mortgage default, the lender can repossess the property and sell its
leasehold and/or freehold interest in the property and can offset their reasonable
10

Page 56

expenses against the price they pay to the authority for the Council’s remaining
shares. The maximum claim is the lower of the outstanding mortgage debt
(including costs, interest, and any rent paid by the lender) or the total of the
Council’s share. Any shortfall remains a debt owed to the authority by the
leaseholder.
Mitigation: Full affordability assessments will be undertaken to ensure the
purchaser can afford the property prior to purchase. Additionally, the authority can
signpost the occupier to the Housing Advice team or external money advice
services to prevent the threat of possession action.


As prices fluctuate the value of SHDC’s assets will change and some homes will
cease to be shared ownership dwellings if the occupier purchases additional shares
in the property up to 100% including freehold.
Mitigation: For each sale, staircase or resale, a reassessment of the value of the
property will be undertaken to determine the appropriate sale price. Officers will
obtain expert valuations to determine the appropriate value and ensure the authority
receives the appropriate return in accordance with the business plan.



Following negotiation, the authority and potential purchaser may be unable to agree
the value of the property and accordingly officers may decline a potential
purchasers offer to acquire a property.
Mitigation: Officers will obtain expert valuations to determine the appropriate value
and ensure the authority receives the best return value.



A sale price which is lower than assumed in the business case may be agreed and
this could affect the return on investment.
Mitigation: Officers have and will continue to use prudent financial assumptions to
prepare each business case for new schemes and will obtain independent property
valuations to determine the appropriate value of each home on sale or resale.

11.6.5 As part of the Portfolio Holder decision report, a series of delegations to officers were
agreed in order to reduce any risk by ensuring review at each stage of the process. These
are detailed again in section 11.1.4 of this report.
11.6.6 Officers are ensuring that the increasing number of shared ownership homes owned by
SHDC, is monitored as part of the approval process for each new sale and that any
learning from other sales is carried forward.
11.6.7 The impact of the consultation on a new shared ownership model (as described in
paragraph 3.9) is also being monitored by officers. Whilst this project will be delivered on
the existing shared ownership model there is a risk that the delivery of shared ownership
homes on other sites which are based on the ‘new’ version of shared ownership may
impact the desirability of homes built under the existing shared ownership model. However,
officers will be seeking to market the four dwellings on this site promptly once within
contract.
11.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

11

Page 57

11.7.1 The delivery timetable will be reviewed once final scheme approval is in place. However,
the developer has suggested that the units will be completed in July 2021.

11.7.2 As four of the homes are Affordable Rent tenure these homes are obliged, as a statutory
tenure, to be declared to Homes England. Officers will write to Homes England to seek
their consent to provide these homes as Affordable Rent tenure. Therefore, whilst not
grant-funded units, Homes England are a stakeholder in this acquisition. Consent has been
provided to SHDC, by Homes England, for other S106 schemes which have been delivered
by the authority.
12

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
Pinchbeck and Surfleet ward

13

ACRONYMS
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
RTB – Right to Buy

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Katie Nicol
01775 764861
knicol@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Exempt appendix

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Confidential Appendix A - Financial Evaluation

12

Page 58

APPENDIX B
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Portfolio Holder for Assets and Planning
Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151 Officer)
Cabinet – 27th April 2021

To:

Council – May 2021
Author:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager

Subject:

Acquisition of housing for the Housing Revenue Account

Purpose:

To set out details of the potential for the authority to acquire twelve new build
homes for Affordable Rent tenure, on a development site in the district.

Recommendations to Cabinet:
1) To approve the business case and approve the acquisition of twelve homes for the HRA.
2) To delegate to the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151) to agree the funding and
contractual matters (including any terms and conditions which may represent a minor
variation to the scheme approved in the business case) such as signing the contract/transfer
document, making an application for Homes England grant funding, utilising RTB sales
receipts for this project and other incidental actions that may be required and approving the
associated due diligence and valuation required to purchase the properties.
Recommendations to Council:
3) To amend the Capital Programme to identify this project as an approved scheme in the
2021/22 Budget.
1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

In the last 5 years South Holland District Council has increased investment in new housing
within the district and more recently has strengthened the capacity of the Strategic Housing
Development team. This team appraises potential acquisition and development schemes;
project manages on site delivery; and oversees the handover of new homes into
management for South Holland’s various delivery vehicles.

1.2

Since 2017/18, the Council has supported ten new development schemes:
Scheme
name

Delivery
vehicle

Walters
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

Number
of
dwellings
15

Timescale

Development type

Status

Properties
completed
2017/18

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Page 59

1.3

Tennants
Close,
Long
Sutton

Welland
Homes

5

Properties
completed
2018/19

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Pankhurst
Close,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

10

Properties
completed in
May 2019.

Welland Homes
design and build
contract.

Complete

Acquisition
of S106
homes
from
Ashwood
(Moulton,
Cowbit,
Donington)

SHDC
HRA

18

Properties
completing in
phases from
March 2019 to
March 2020.

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.

Properties
complete.
End of
defects
stage.

Small
Drove,
Weston

SHDC
HRA

34

Deadline to
complete
properties is
March 2021
(as per Homes
England grant
terms).

Design and build
contract.

Properties
complete.
Defects
liability
period
stage.

Bentley
Court,
Spalding

Welland
Homes

5

Purchase
Complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Donington
SHDC
market
HRA
acquisitions

7

Purchase
complete

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

Complete

Wignals
Gate,
Holbeach

SHDC
HRA

19

Welland
Homes

4

Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
due to S106
agreement.
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV.

In
progress

Northons
Lane,
Holbeach

Properties
completing in
phases from
October 2020
to October
2022
Properties
completing
April 2021

Cobgate,
Whaplode

SHDC
HRA

7

Properties due
to complete
Jan – March
2022

Acquisition of
completed S106
dwellings from
developer, with
discount on OMV.

In
progress

Complete

The SHDC Housing Development team has been seeking new development opportunities.
This has involved liaison with agents, property developers and housing associations that
are delivering mixed-tenure schemes within the district. Through these discussions, a new
scheme to acquire twelve new build homes has been identified.

Page 60

2.0

SCHEME BUSINESS CASE

2.1

Officers have liaised with a local landowner, via an agent, regarding the development and
acquisition of a scheme of 12 one-bedroom apartments at Roman Bank, Spalding. It
should be noted that if this project is supported by Cabinet and Council, officers will
undertake detailed contract negotiations and a thorough due diligence process. Ahead of
formal approval, contract negotiations and due diligence will only proceed to initial stages.

2.2

The scheme will provide a block of 12 one-bedroom apartments across 3 storeys. The
design provides for two separate cores, each serving 6 apartments (2 on each level). The
detailed plans provide 12 car parking spaces, 1 per dwelling.

2.3

The site has a Planning consent and accordingly the layout and mix of dwellings has been
approved by SHDC. The site is not subject to a S106 planning agreement.

2.4

The scheme is proposed to be built of red brick, reconstituted stone sills and a section of
black horizontal boarding to provide contrasting detail to the elevation. The planning
consent requires details of the materials to be agreed between the Developer and Planning
prior to commencement, as a condition of the approval.

2.5

The details of the twelve homes at the centre of this business case are detailed in the table
below.
Location
Roman
Bank,
Spalding

TOTAL

Plot Type
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18

Tenure

1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed ground floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed first floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
1 bed second floor apartment
12

Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent
Affordable Rent

Indicative
handover date
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*
October 2022*

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

2.6

Whilst the homes were not designated as affordable homes in the Planning consent, they
have been assessed by the Housing Team as being suitable for that purpose. The internal
layouts of the flats allow for a combined living/kitchen/diner, a separate double bedroom
and a bathroom. The apartments are stacked identically which reduces the risk of
management challenges around noise transference.

2.7

The SHDC Housing Management team have been consulted regarding the scheme and are
supportive of SHDC taking additional homes in this location and have advised that there is
a strong housing need for this type of accommodation. One-bedroom accommodation is in
high demand and will be a welcome addition to the HRA portfolio, as evidenced in Section
4 below.

Page 61

2.8

An offer has been made to the developer subject to contract, legal due diligence, formal
valuation and full approval. This offer has been accepted. A formal valuation was
completed in April 2020 and reviewed by the RICS registered Valuer in November 2020
which confirms that, as agreed, the deal reflects good value for money. Details of the
valuation are provided in Appendix A.

2.9

The landowner is seeking to develop the site rather than sell the land. Officers have
explored options for the deal structure in conjunction with Portfolio Holder for Assets and
Planning and the Deputy Leader of the Cabinet/Portfolio Holder - Finance, Strategy,
Partnerships and an ‘off-the-shelf’ acquisition of the completed properties has been
selected as the preferred option for negotiations regarding this site.

2.10

The Procurement Team has reviewed the structure of the project and are satisfied that this
the project is not subject to procurement or tendering rules as it falls under the exclusion of
acquiring land / property.

2.11

An ‘off-the-shelf’ acquisition represents the lowest financial risk to the authority during the
construction of the project. This method of acquisition, whereby the dwellings are only
purchased at completion, limits the authority’s exposure to any development phase risk and
any reputational or financial risk of either the contractor, or developer, becoming insolvent.

2.12

Whilst the units will not be built to a detailed SHDC specification, a specification will be
agreed as part of the contract negotiations. The responsibility for the construction quality
will sit with the developer and is established via contract condition.

2.13

SHDC will be entering into contract with the landowner, as developer, to acquire the
dwellings. The dwellings are to be constructed via a separate contract between the
developer and a contractor. SHDC will not be party to this contract or to the process of the
selection of the contractor. Given the nature of the homes as an ‘off-the-shelf’ acquisition,
the authority will have limited influence over the style and construction methodology of the
properties. However, during negotiations, officers have specified that a traditional build
method should be used and not a timber frame construction; this has been accepted.
Officers will ensure that suitable measures will be incorporated into the project to ensure
that fire safety and noise transmission mitigation measures are in place. These will be
sought to be included within the contract so if evidence of the mitigation measures is not
provided, the units will not be acquired. Officers will also work with the developer to agree a
specification for the internal and external communal areas to ensure that they meet the
authority’s needs.

2.14

Officers will negotiate a contract for the purchase of these properties which seeks to
provide the most advantageous position for the authority. A solicitor will be appointed to act
on SHDC’s behalf in order to ensure thorough due diligence will be undertaken on the land
and development, this will included a detailed report on title and review of the statutory
obligations, prior to entering contract.

2.15

Financial due diligence, such as company credit assessment and reference checking, is not
required to be carried out on the land owner or the contractor as SHDC will only purchase
the completed units once evidence is provided that the units are contractually compliant
and have been built, inspected and deemed satisfactory by third party’s such as Building
Control, Warranty Provider and Planning.

Page 62

2.16

The homes will have to be delivered in accordance with the contract and with all
appropriate regulatory certification in place. In addition, the properties will be required to
benefit from a suitable building warranty for a minimum of 10 years. Key document
requirements will be listed within the contract and will need to be provided prior to
completion taking place. The quality of the homes will also be checked by a Buyer’s
Representative appointed to act in the authority’s best interests.

2.17

In the event, that the homes are not constructed in accordance with the terms of the
contract, the authority will not have to purchase them. Officers will maintain regular contact
with the developers through the build process to seek to ensure where possible, that the
homes are delivered as agreed.

2.18

The process of due diligence may impact contract negotiations as more information is
identified about the scheme. The contract is a negotiation between parties and officers will
endeavour to negotiate the best position for the authority throughout. Any elements that
are different to those assumed at approval will be reviewed as part of the due diligence
review and approved by the Section 151 Officer in their role to agree the contractual
matters to purchase the properties.

2.19

The site is located in an area of flood risk. The flood risk assessment for the site, carried
out at planning stage, has identified that although the site is in flood zone 3(a), the actual
risk of the site flooding from any Environment Agency watercourse is low. As a preventative
measure flood resilience and resistance measures will be incorporated into the
development as a planning requirement to reduce the risk of flooding. Ensuring that this
planning condition is signed off will be required within the contract prior to purchase. As part
of the due diligence process officers will be reviewing the proposals in relation to this to
ensure that they are acceptable from a long-term management perspective.

2.20

An existing block of apartments, developed and retained by the landowner has already
been completed on the land in front of this site, adjacent to the site entrance. This block is
not included in the project acquisition, however, there is no hard boundary between the two
sites. A private drive is used by the existing flats for access to the rear of the block, access
to two parking spaces, and access to the refuse collection point. This road will also provide
access to the 12 apartments subject to this business case and therefore the access road
will be shared. The private driveway is in possession of the landowner who has not yet
advised whether they intend to include the private driveway in the sale of the block of
apartments or whether a management company will be established for the site. Agreement
on this will form part of the contract negotiations. If the road is not transferred, a service
charge may be applicable and so an allowance for this has been built into the financial
modelling.

2.21

Officers have undertaken a business planning exercise for the delivery of these twelve
homes which is provided at Appendix A. The evaluation shows that the scheme will
provide a financial return for the authority.

2.22

As with all HRA projects a contingency sum has been included within the financial
modelling of the scheme. This amount has been enhanced for this project as the design of
the development includes communal areas which may need an increased specification to
ensure they are suitably robust for the long term management of this block.

Page 63

2.23

The financial assessment assumes that the apartments will be let as Affordable Rent
tenure. The rental charged for these will therefore be inclusive of any service charge
payable by the dwellings.

2.24

Affordable Rented tenure homes will be let at 80% of the local market rent value or at the
Local Housing Allowance. Homes England stipulate a requirement to approve Affordable
Rents being charged on any site which is not grant funded. However, this consent is likely
to be forthcoming. Officers will submit a request to Homes England as part of the due
diligence process. In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the
homes to be provided as Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be
provided as Social Rent tenure instead. This creates a risk as set out in paragraph 9.4.3.

2.25

In terms of the overall Capital Programme for HRA Housing Development, there is total
approved provision of £13m for schemes subject to detailed approval for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25. To date, one scheme has been approved for purchase, leaving
adequate budget to finance this acquisition.

2.26

Delivering new homes for the HRA will mitigate the impact on the HRA business plan of the
loss of homes through RTB sales. It will also improve the nature and mix of homes within
SHDC’s stock. However, it should be noted that if these properties are purchased and let
as affordable homes, the Right to Buy will also apply to these properties. In the event of a
RTB application, the ‘cost floor’ rule will ensure that a tenant’s discount does not reduce the
RTB sale price below the amount that has been spent on the property in the 15 years prior
to RTB; this includes the capital costs of acquisition.

3.0

RIGHT TO BUY SALES RECEIPTS

3.1

On the 19th March 2021, Government published its response to a consultation on the use of
receipts from RTB sales. The consultation response sets out changes to the RTB receipts
system to help local authorities build more council homes. The reforms seek to give
authorities substantially increased flexibilities.

3.2

The changes include extending the timeframe that local authorities have for spending RTB
receipts from 3 years to 5 years; the ability to utilise the receipt for a higher percentage of a
project’s costs; enabling shared ownership tenure dwellings to be funded by receipts;
introducing a cap on the use of RTB receipts for acquisition projects.

3.3

This business case does not take account of the newly published reforms. Appendix A
provides a financial evaluation assuming that RTB receipts are used to part-fund 30% of
total capital costs.

4.0

Key Considerations
There are a number of key matters to consider relating to this scheme which are as follows:


An offer for the dwellings has been submitted and accepted by the developer.



The valuation completed as part of the due diligence process has been carried out
on the basis of ‘Material Valuation Uncertainty’ This is as advised by RICS and is
common across all ‘red book’ valuations carried out during this time. This is as a
result of the valuation process being based upon comparable evidence, which
includes evidence from prior to, as well as during, the pandemic. Therefore, the

Page 64

valuation must be considered with ‘less certainty, and a higher degree of caution’
than in normal times due to the uncertainty around the impact of the pandemic on
the housing market.


As this is an Affordable Rented tenure scheme, but not as a result of a S106
Planning agreement, an application could be made to Homes England to part-fund
the project with Homes England grant funding, subject to meeting the relevant
requirements.



Alternatively, the project is also eligible for the use of Right-to-Buy sales receipts.



If Right to Buy receipts or grant funding is used to part-fund the acquisitions, the
return to SHDC will increase as the direct capital invested decreases. The financial
return for the project is reported in Appendix A.



The Housing team has confirmed that there is housing need identified in this
location for one-bedroom accommodation.



The financial appraisal assumes that the units are let as Affordable Rent tenure.
This means that Homes England will be required to approve the charging of
Affordable Rent and, if the scheme is supported by Members, a request will be
made to Homes England to confirm this tenure can be applied.



If approved, the scheme would be the first apartment block acquired or built for the
authority since around 2006. Care will need to be taken to ensure that internal and
external communal areas are suitable for the authority’s needs. SHDC Housing
officers have experience in delivering flatted schemes, and will liaise closely with
colleagues in Housing Management and Repairs and Property to ensure their
knowledge of managing other blocks in the district is applied to this project.



It is acknowledged that this is not the only scheme which the authority could pursue
and that there are other development sites in the district. However, this business
case should be considered on the basis of the scheme specific information
provided.

5.0

HOUSING NEED

5.1

New HRA homes contribute towards meeting housing need in the district.

5.2

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment identifies a need for 282 new affordable homes
to be provided in the district each year, 85% of which should be for rent and 25% of which
should be one-bedroom accommodation.

3.1

On average, 67 new affordable homes (including rented and shared ownership) have been
provided in the district each year (2016/17 to 2020-21) by SHDC and other Registered
Providers. Between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021, there were 103 affordable housing
completions in the district, 46 of which were for rent.

5.4

It is anticipated that the demand for affordable housing will increase as a result of the
pandemic. Analysis of the SHDC Housing Register indicates that the number of applicants
on the register has increased from 350 at the end of March 2020 to 460 at mid-April 2021.
Additionally, an increased number of people are unable to address their housing need once
they are threatened with homelessness and are therefore presenting as homeless.

Page 65

5.5

The housing register indicates a demand for 86 one-bedroom homes for general needs
within Spalding and 134 within the district at in March 2021.

6.0

PROPOSED TIMETABLE

6.1

If this scheme is supported, the proposed timetable for future activity is as follows:
Indicative date
April 2021

Activity
Cabinet

May 2021

Council

May-July 2021

Contract negotiations;
specification agreed
and contractor
identified
Exchange on contract
Completion. Handover
of properties
End of Defects

July 2021
Oct 2022 *
Oct 2023*

Decision
To approve the business case for the
acquisition of the properties.
To delegate authority to sign the
contract documentation to S151
Officer or similar, subject to
satisfactory legal due diligence.
To amend the Capital Programme to
approve the spend for this project.
Delegated to Officers

Delegated to Officers.
Delegated to Officers.
Delegated to Officers.

*Developer anticipated programme subject to confirmation.

7.0

OPTIONS

7.1

Option 1: To approve the business case for the purchase of twelve new build homes;
to delegate authority to officers to conclude the due diligence and complete the
purchase; to amend the HRA Capital Programme.
Under this option, due diligence and contract negotiations would be undertaken, and
external legal services commissioned. SHDC would exchange on the contract, with the
purchase and transfer to occur once the properties are complete.

7.2

Option 2: Do Nothing.
Under this option, the authority would not proceed to purchase the properties. As a
consequence, the expected benefits listed in Section 9 will not be realised. Officers would
seek to identify alternative appropriate schemes for consideration by Cabinet and Council.

8.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

8.1

The recommendations to proceed with the purchase of twelve homes relates to the
expected benefits detailed in section 9.

9.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

9.1

It is anticipated that the report recommendations will support the realisation of the following
benefits:


A return on investment. As set out within the financial evaluation (Appendix A),
there is a positive business case associated with the proposed investment.

Page 66

10.0



The delivery of 12 additional dwellings into the HRA. These homes meet the
needs of those who require low cost rented accommodation.



Meeting housing need. The homes proposed will meet housing need in a location
where there is evidence of a strong need for additional affordable homes of this
size.



The replacement of homes sold through Right to Buy. On average, 23 Council
homes have been purchased by tenants each year since 2017, by virtue of the
Right to Buy. Since 1st April 2020, a further 14 properties have been sold to
tenants. The delivery of new affordable homes can replace those homes lost each
year, mitigating the impact of these losses on the HRA business plan.



The new homes can be part-funded from the time limited RTB receipts.
Investing the RTB receipts on new rented housing ensures that the receipts do not
have to be returned to Government.



Alternatively, in lieu of utilising RTB receipts, the new homes could be partfunded via Homes England grant funding. This is a competitive bidding process
however the new affordable homes programme recently announced, is supportive
of schemes of this type being grant funded.



Additional funding streams will improve the financial performance of the
project. If Right to Buy receipts or grant funding is used to support the scheme, the
return to SHDC will increase as the direct capital invested decreases.



Market confidence. The Council acting as a proactive purchaser of dwellings will
provide confidence to local developers of the authority’s aspirations to grow and to
provide new housing solutions within the district.

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or
more of these headings, these are identified below.

10.1

Constitutional & Legal

10.1.1 Cabinet are responsible for approving the business case for this project.
10.1.2 Council will be asked to consider amending the Capital Programme to allocate the budget
for this project.
10.1.3 As per previous acquisitions, the legal support for the contract negotiations and purchase
will be provided by an external firm.
10.2

Contracts

10.2.1 A contract will be required between SHDC and the developer. SHDC has not previously
worked with this land owner/developer. A timetable will be agreed for the handover of the
apartment block when the homes are ready to be occupied and safe, unimpeded access to
the building and external areas is available.

Page 67

10.2.2 The contract will contain a list of requirements and the properties will not be purchased until
these requirements have been met.
Additionally, SHDC will appoint a Buyer’s
Representative to provide quality assurance at handover.
10.2.3 It is anticipated that officers will commence negotiations with the developer regarding
specification and contract terms immediately following Council approval. Once the broad
contract terms have been agreed, the developer is likely to procure a price from a
contractor. Accordingly, it is possible that the contractor will be selected before SHDC signs
the contract.
10.3

Corporate Priorities

10.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your Home’.
10.3.2 The scheme supports “delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and aspirations.”
10.3.3 The recommendations also support the Council’s objective to “ensure that our residents are
enabled to live in high-quality housing no matter the tenure.”
10.4

Financial

10.4.1 There is a detailed financial evaluation with financial implications set out in confidential
Appendix A.
10.4.2 In terms of financial capacity, there is a total approved capital provision of £13m in the
Capital Programme for the acquisition of new affordable homes by the HRA, for the period
2021/22 to 2024/25.
10.4.3 If this business case is supported by Cabinet, the recommendation to amend the Capital
Programme to include this scheme as an approved scheme, will proceed to be considered
by Council. In the event that Homes England does not provide consent for the homes to be
provided as Affordable Rent tenure, they will still be purchased but will be provided as
Social Rent tenure instead. This creates a risk that the anticipated financial return will be
lower as the rental income for social rented housing is lower. Sensitivity analysis has been
prepared which indicates that the scheme will still provide a positive financial return if the
properties are provided as Social Rent tenure.
10.5

Reputation

10.5.1 Risks around reputation are mitigated through a robust project management structure. The
Housing Development team work closely with colleagues in Communications on all projects
and meet on a regular basis to ensure that a Communications Plan is in place where
appropriate.
10.5.2 Regular engagement with the developer will be arranged once the contract is agreed and
the site is in progress.
10.6

Risk Management

Page 68

10.6.1 Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. Officers strive to identify
and manage risk at each stage of the project.
10.6.2 Each project has a risk register that is reviewed throughout the lifecycle of a project by the
Project team.
10.6.3 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited
valuation advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the project.
10.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

10.7.1 The delivery timetable will be reviewed once final scheme approval is in place. However,
the developer has suggested that the units will be completed in October 2022.
10.7.2 As all the homes are proposed to be Affordable Rent tenure these homes are obliged, as a
statutory tenure, to be declared to Homes England. Officers will write to Homes England to
seek their consent to provide these homes as Affordable Rent tenure. Therefore, even if
Homes England grant funding is not provided, Homes England are a stakeholder in this
acquisition. Consent has previously been provided to SHDC, by Homes England, for all
non-grant funded Affordable Rent schemes, delivered by the authority.
11.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED
Spalding St. Pauls

12.0

ACRONYMS
HRA – Housing Revenue Account

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager
01775 764861
knicol@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Exempt Appendix

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
Confidential Appendix A - Financial Evaluation

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX C
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Christine Marshall, Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer)

To:

Cabinet - 27th April 2021
Council - May 2021

Author:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager and David Mackinder,
Finance Business Partner

Subject

Welland Homes Business Plan Update incorporating Holbeach Road,
Spalding

Purpose:

To present a business case to Cabinet and to present to Council, as sole
shareholder for Welland Homes Ltd, a proposal from the Company to
purchase six houses for the purposes of market rental investment and an
updated Welland Homes Business Plan.

Recommendation(s) to Cabinet:
1) To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland Homes Ltd of six houses,
for the purposes of a market rental investment.
2)

That, subject to the refreshed business plan and budget being approved by the Council
in accordance with recommendation 3 below, delegated authority be granted to the
Executive Director - Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to (i) approve the terms of any
loan agreements required; (ii) approve the value and the profile of any periodic cash flow
payments to be made to the Company, as required to support the Company in the
acquisition of the proposed investment properties.

Recommendation(s) to Council:
3) That the updated Welland Homes Business Plan be approved, and included as an
amendment in the next SHDC Quarterly report to members.
4)

To reaffirm the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25th March 2015, to the
Executive Director – Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to approve the final mix of use
of reserves and borrowing in line with the business plan and Council Treasury
Management Strategy.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Welland Homes was established by SHDC in 2015. The principal objectives for setting up
the Company were to increase housing supply to address demand; to boost the local
economy; to improve the quality of rented sector accommodation; to set standards for good
housing design; and to generate income for the Council.

1.2

The Council is the sole shareholder of the Company and the Company’s business plan can
only be amended with the approval of the shareholder. However, the Company has six
nominated directors who oversee the activity of the Company. The current adopted
business plan is predicated on the Company owning 60 homes by 2022/23.

Page 71

1.3

The Company now owns 39 market rented homes across 5 sites as shown in the table
below. All properties are let and the low void rates indicate that the properties are in
demand.
Scheme name
Walters Close,
Spalding

Number of dwellings
15

Handover date
2017/18

Tennants Close,
Long Sutton

5

2018/19

Pankhurst Close,
Spalding

10

2019/20

Bentley Court

5

2019/20

Northons Lane,
Holbeach

4

2020/21

Development type
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
Welland Homes
design and build
contract.
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV
Acquisition of
completed dwellings
from developer, with
discount on OMV

1.4

The original Capital Program was included as Appendix E to the Budget, Medium Term
Plan and Capital Strategy Report to Council on 3rd March 2021, as Item 11 on the agenda.

1.5

Capital funding for new schemes is financed through a mixture of loans (at commercial
rates) and equity provided to the Company by the Council. Given the current Bank of
England base rate, the Council earns a margin on the interest charged to the Company.
Additionally, the council earns a return on the equity invested.

1.6

In return, the Company receives the rental income and pays interest on the loan.

1.7

By March 2021, the Company made sufficient profit to pay charitable donations to local
charities which would have previously been paid by SHDC General Fund.

1.8

The current portfolio of 39 homes is appreciating in value and the current asset value is
significantly greater than the total investment required to deliver those homes.

1.9

The Company incurs Core Business (operating) costs such as insurance, accountancy
services, legal expenses and reimbursement of SHDC staff time for administering board
meetings, managing the property management contract and identifying new business
opportunities.

1.10

Properties owned by Welland Homes are currently managed by Ark Property Services; a
private letting agent with experience of operating in the market rented sector within the
district.

1.11

The Welland Homes Business Plan was most recently updated in March 2021 when the
Council approved funding for the acquisition of four completed dwellings at Northons Lane,
Holbeach.

Page 72

1.12

Welland Homes is continuing to pursue further investment activity for the purposes of
market rent to comply with its Business Plan. This Business Plan assumes that the
Company will have 60 homes in its ownership by October 2022. There have been some
delays to the delivery of new homes due to the impact on the construction sector, SHDC
and the Company, of the Covid-19 pandemic.

1.13

The SHDC Housing Development Team recommenced seeking new development and
acquisition opportunities in Summer 2020.

2.0

NEW BUSINESS SCHEME

2.1

This section provides scheme information. It should be noted that if this scheme is
supported, officers will undertake contract negotiations and detailed due diligence.
However, at this time, ahead of formal approval, negotiations are at initial stages.

2.2

This opportunity originated from an officer led lead via the advertising sales agent. It
relates to the acquisition of 6 new-build 2-bedroom semi-detached houses in Spalding. The
construction of the homes is likely to be completed by August 2021.

2.3

The proposal is for Welland Homes to purchase completed dwellings from a small
construction company. As this is an off the shelf purchase, Welland Homes will only be
required to purchase the homes if they are delivered in accordance with the contract and
subject to completion of satisfactory due diligence.

2.4

Ark Property Centre has indicated that there is demand for this property type in this
location.

2.5

A heads of terms document was drawn up which included all relevant information relating to
the scheme that was known at that time. This was reviewed by the Welland Homes Board
who agreed to make an offer for this scheme. Following negotiation between the company
and developer’s agent, a price was negotiated and agreed ‘subject to contract, formal
approval, formal valuation and due diligence’ between both parties.

2.6

The business case for this acquisition was unanimously approved by Welland Homes
Directors on 6th April 2021. The Company directors considered the business case relating
to the proposed acquisition and the impact on the Company’s Business Plan. The business
case indicated that the target date for acquisition of the dwellings was August 2021 and
built in a delay to assumed occupation dates to mitigate against any delay to the
programme, or in letting the units.

2.7

The business case identified that the scheme was likely to support the Company’s principal
objectives. The key considerations included:
- The scheme will make an appropriate return to Welland Homes to enable the debt to be
serviced.
- The scheme is in Spalding which is a location with good demand for private rented
accommodation.
- The size of the scheme is appropriate.
- The Board is satisfied, based on the current understanding of the rental market and
advice from Ark Property Centre that the properties will be in demand for private rented
accommodation.
- The scheme will provide good quality accommodation close to the town centre.

2.8

The board also considered the scheme costs identified in the business case, details of
which can be found in confidential Appendix 1.

Page 73

2.9

Having regard for the business case, Welland Homes board identified that the scheme met
their objectives in terms of size, location and property type and return on investment. The
board resolved to agree that, subject to the approval of the sole shareholder, and the
relevant legal due diligence and appropriate professional review, Welland Homes Ltd
purchase 6 units at Holbeach Road, Spalding, to be let as market rent properties, as per
the Business Plan assumptions.

2.10

A discount has been achieved on individual marketing prices of the units despite a strong
sales market, where sector intelligence suggests that developers are seeking near-toasking price offers. This is enhanced by the ‘race’ to benefit from the pause on stamp duty
until 30th June 2021.

2.11

The Board noted that parking is limited in the vicinity but the properties have been provided
with 1 in-line car parking space each. Should parking restrictions such as double yellow
lines outside of the development be required, then this could be requested via a traffic
regulation order. However, in order to be favourably received by LCC, it would be required
to evidence that parking is or will be an issue.

2.12

The Board also considered the implications of the dwellings not being covered by NHBC
warranty. However, it was noted that the developer will be providing a professional
consultant’s certificate by CMLC of Spalding. This alternative approach has been reviewed
and deemed as sufficient, subject to the strength of the underwriting insurance company.
Further checks will form part of the due diligence process prior to completion.

2.13

The developer is utilising SHDC Building Control for inspections. This provides an additional
level of oversight on the quality of the dwellings. SHDC Building Control have been
attending the site and inspecting progress with the construction. SHDC Building Control
have also confirmed inspection has taken place to the piled foundations. Formal verification
of the Building Control application has been delayed due to Building Control requiring
further information. SHDC Building Control have confirmed that this is not unusual and
officers will monitor to seek to ensure that this process is completed as part of the due
diligence.

2.14

The surface water drainage from the scheme including the parking, will discharge into a
combined on-site connection which will discharge to the maintained sewer under the
highway (maintained by Anglian Water). No soakaways are contained within the
development.

2.15

The refuse collection from the properties will be via roadside collection by SHDC, with bags
to be presented on the relevant collection days.

3.0

Financial Evaluation

3.1

Welland Homes Board reviewed the business case for this scheme and assessed the
impact of this scheme on a refreshed Business Plan. Directors acknowledged the impact
on the current Business Plan and the positive return generated and the potential for the
capital asset to appreciate over time. They were satisfied that this scheme meets their
objectives and they agreed:
 That the scheme be presented to the Council, as Shareholder;
 That, subject to the approval of the sole shareholder, and the relevant legal due
diligence and appropriate professional review, Welland Homes Ltd purchase 6 units at
Holbeach Road Spalding, to be let as market rent properties, as per the Business Plan
assumptions.

Page 74

3.2

The financial evaluation of the scheme is summarised in confidential Appendix 1.

3.3

The projected impact of this scheme on the overall Welland Homes Business Plan is set
out in confidential Appendix 3.

3.4

In order to enable Welland Homes to proceed with this project, the Company is seeking
approval from the shareholder to put into place all of the necessary arrangements to enable
the Company to complete the proposed investment.

3.5

These arrangements include Cabinet approving the business case for the acquisition and
subject to Shareholder approval, that a loan and equity investment be made available to
Welland Homes to acquire the units.

3.6

Approval is being sought from Council to approve the changes to the Company’s Business
Plan (in its capacity as sole shareholder), and allocate the necessary finance to this project
to enable the Company to acquire the units.

3.7

The offer accepted is subject to legal due diligence. Welland Homes Board have approved
this scheme and a solicitor has been appointed to prepare a Report on Title to ensure the
units have good and marketable title in advance of the scheme being fully approved by the
Shareholder. As set out in the Service Level Agreement between SHDC and Welland
Homes, these costs will be borne by Welland Homes as part of the total commitment in the
Loan agreement. In the event that the scheme is not supported by the Shareholder, these
costs will be met as revenue costs by the Company.

3.8

A formal valuation has been completed to verify the assumptions made within the appraisal
of the opportunity. This has been carried out by a Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
registered firm, to confirm the purchase achieves good value for money and that the rental
level assumed for the units, is achievable. This was reviewed by the Board prior to the
Board approving the scheme.

4.0

RISK

4.1

Acquisition and development activity has within it inherent risks. The risks are sought to be
identified and managed at each stage of the process of project consideration, and at
regular points as opportunities progress through the governance process.

4.2

The risks associated with this project have been considered by the board and will be
reviewed as the due diligence is undertaken. This project will be added into the risk register
for the Company.

4.3

The key risks associated with this acquisition are identified below:
-

-

Contract negotiations are unsuccessful. Whilst key terms have been agreed, draft
documentation has yet to be reviewed. Officers are seeking to protect the best interests
of the Company and shareholders at all times and external legal specialists are being
appointed to act on the Company’s behalf in these negotiations.
Difficulties in letting the properties. A professional marketing agent is in place to
manage and market the dwellings early. As part of the contract negotiations officers will
seek agreement from the developer to allow early advertising in advance of the
acquisition. Financial modelling does include prudent assumptions around void rates.
Additionally, advice on appropriate rental income has been provided by Ark Property
Centre and verified by the formal valuation completed in order to safeguard the return
expected. A delay has been built in to the cash-flow expected before rent is assumed to
be generated.

Page 75

-

4.4

Quality is not as expected. Financial modelling includes an allowance for a Buyer’s
Representative to carry out a purchasers snag prior to completion to ensure that units
are handed over with a good standard of workmanship. SHDC Building Control team
have commenced inspections of the properties and will continue to monitor along with
CLMC structural inspections. Insurance documentation and certification will be in place
prior to completion.

The key risks for the authority as sole shareholder are as follows:
-

Financial. This risk is mitigated by the efficient running of the Company and the
delivery of the Business Plan. The Council are prudent lenders and oversee their
investment by regular involvement at Board Meetings and by the checks and balances
required to progress Welland Homes investment activity.

-

Reputational. As above, this risk is mitigated by efficient running of the Company.
Professional advice and due diligence is sought at every stage of the process and
effective governance processes are in place to review and monitor all activity. Officers
review Welland Homes’ activity with the shareholder’s interests in mind, as well as that
of the Company.

5.0

IMPACT ON THE BUSINESS PLAN

5.1

The detailed projected financial impact on the Council is set out in Appendix 3.

5.2

It demonstrates that with the benefit of this scheme, there continues to be a beneficial
financial return to the Council from Welland Homes activity. This is forecasted to be
revenue return of over £0.316m per year by 2022-23 comprising equity
dividends/donations, loan interest and staff recharges.

5.3

The key changes to the Welland Homes Business Plan since it was last approved in
January 2021 are summarised below:
 The proposed purchase of 6 additional units by August 2021.
 Scheme 5A (Northons Lane) was purchased by Welland Homes on 31st March
2021, bringing the total number of homes in ownership to 39. This Business Plan
assumed that the homes on scheme 5A would be occupied by August 2021 but it
is likely that the Company will receive rental income on some or all of the
properties by May 2021.
 This business case relates to notional scheme 5B which it was assumed in the
current Business Plan would be for 6 homes and would generate rental income by
1st April 2022. By purchasing the six homes subject to this business case, the
refreshed Business Plan provided at Appendix 2 assumes that rental income will
be generated sooner, by 1st October 2021.
 Scheme 6 which comprises 15 homes will still be assumed to be in management
by 1st October 2022, as per the current plan.

5.4

Welland Homes’ overheads such as core costs and fees for audit, directors’ insurance and
legal services have increased since the original Business Plan which was prepared many
years ago. The refreshed Business Plan provided at Appendix 2 includes the actual costs
for 2019/20 and assumes an inflated level of overheads for future years.

5.5

It should be noted that the capital costs for Scheme 6 reflect current market costs and are
considerably higher than those built into the original Business Plan which were based upon
2017 market prices.

Page 76

5.6

The scheme gross return on equity has been compared to the rest of the Welland Homes
programme and a summary table is attached at confidential Appendix 4. The comparison
summary provided at Appendix 4 identifies that this scheme provides a higher 30 Year
Return on Equity than the Bentley Court and Northons Lane schemes, but lower than the
earlier schemes in the Welland Homes Business Plan. This is due to a number of factors:

The other acquisition schemes; Green Lane and Tennants Close were agreed in
2016 and 2017 respectively. Since these were agreed housing prices have continued
to rise in the district, and the quantum of investment opportunities on the open market
has decreased. This is evidenced by the significant increase in asset value of
Welland Homes existing assets since the original purchases were completed.

The scheme is 6 units and so it doesn’t benefit from the same economies of scale as
at Pankhurst Close and Walters Close.

The scheme is located in Spalding which is a popular residential location in the district
and therefore prices are at a premium.

The post lockdown housing market saw unexpected growth and increased demand
during 2020, meaning that some developers are achieving near-to-asking price offers.

Pankhurst Close was a development scheme as opposed to an acquisition. A
development scheme balances higher risks (due the risks involved in constructing the
properties as opposed to simply acquiring them) with potentially higher rewards
(financial return), and therefore it is not directly comparable with an acquisition
opportunity so needs to be considered separately.

5.7

However, although this Scheme, 5B provides a lower 30 Year Return on Equity than the
earlier schemes in the Welland Homes Business Plan it still provides a positive return and
allows investment in a capital asset with scope for appreciation in value over time.

5.8

The Core Business (Operating) costs for Welland Homes for 2020/21 onwards are
forecasts. They have been calculated based on the actual 2019/20 Company costs, but
are slightly inflated to take account of rising costs. Accordingly, the Business Plan is
predicated on forecasts only. It is possible that these forecasted Core Business (Operating)
Costs could increase further. Gross Scheme Returns are based on accurate forecasts of
likely rental income.

5.9

The total investment required to deliver 60 properties across six schemes is estimated at
Appendix 3.

5.10

The current modelling assumes that the Council’s investment in Welland Homes will be
funded through internal borrowing. While the Bank of England base rate is so low this will
mean that the Council can achieve a higher rate of interest from Welland Homes than by
investing elsewhere. However, it should be noted that, as this is a long term investment,
there is a risk that if the base rate increases there may be an ‘opportunity cost’ to the
authority.

5.11

In line with the delegated authority granted by Council on 25th March 2015 and re-affirmed
within the recommendations within this report, the Executive Director - Commercialisation
(the S151 Officer) will approve the final mix of reserves and borrowing in line with the
Business Plan and Council Treasury Management Strategy.

5.12

The element of funding that comprises a loan or loans will be subject to a formal loan
agreement or agreements which may be protected by way of a charge against the
Company’s assets generally (a floating charge.) Delegation to the Section 151 Officer is
sought to approve the terms of any such agreements.

Page 77

5.13

Delegation to the Section 151 Officer is also sought to approve the process required for the
Company to draw down periodic cash flow payments if required.

5.14

The revised Business Plan was considered and agreed unanimously by the Welland
Homes Directors, subject to approval by the shareholder.

6.0

OPTIONS
Option 1 – To approve the business case for the acquisition by Welland Homes Ltd of six
houses, at Holbeach Road Spalding for the purposes of a market rental investment and to
approve the amended Business Plan.
Option 2 – Do nothing. Without the approval of the shareholder, Welland Homes would be
unable to proceed with the proposed investment. This in turn would limit the delivery of
housing from Welland Homes under the existing Business Plan and leave the Company
unable to deliver forecasted returns.

7.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

7.1

To approve the business case for Welland Homes to acquire six homes in Spalding in order
to realise the expected benefits as detailed in Section 8 below.

8

EXPECTED BENEFITS

8.1

The acquisition of six homes and delivery of this scheme will provide a number of benefits:

Supports the delivery of the wider Welland Homes Business Plan, which will in turn
support the delivery of savings targets set out in the Council’s Medium Term
Financial Plan

Increases housing supply to address demand;

Boosts to the local economy;

Improves the quality of rented sector accommodation; and

Generates income for the Council.

9

IMPLICATIONS

9.1

Constitutional & Legal

9.1.1 Whilst operational matters in respect of the Company are executive functions, the changes
proposed to the Business Plan result in a need to change the budget. As a result, the final
decision is reserved for Council.
9.1.2 The legal requirements for the acquisition by Welland Homes will be met by an external
solicitor appointed by Welland Homes. Review of the loan agreement, drawn up by
Eversheds on behalf of South Holland District Council, has been carried out by the
Council’s solicitors previously and the same template is proposed to be used for this
acquisition.
9.1.3 The proposed revisions to the Business Plan are consistent with the agreed objectives of
the Company.
9.2

Contracts

Page 78

9.2.1 In capitalising Welland Homes as a means to enable the Company to deliver the project,
the Council will utilise a loan and equity agreement, prepared by external legal advisors.
This loan and equity agreement will act as a contract between the Council and Welland
Homes in relation to the financing arrangement between the two parties.
9.3

Corporate Priorities

9.3.1 The recommendations contained within the report will make a notable contribution to the
realisation of the Council’s corporate priority around ‘Your home’ and supports the following
priorities in the Corporate Plan 2019-2023:
 Enable effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and
aspirations to ensure that our residents have access to a range of housing options in
the district;
 Deliver new homes for our residents and provide a dividend to Council through our
Welland Homes housing company; and
 Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the
tenure.
9.4

Financial

9.4.1 There is a detailed financial report with financial implications set out in the confidential
appendices attached. This includes a financial evaluation of this Business Case; a revised
Welland Homes Business Plan; an assessment of the financial impact of the revised
Welland Homes Business Plan on the Council; and a comparison of the financial return
anticipated to be achieved on this scheme alongside forecasts for other approved Welland
Homes projects.
9.5

Reputation

9.5.1 In order to mitigate reputational risk, a robust risk management structure sits around the
administration of Welland Homes as a Company. Reputational risk is a key consideration
within this structure, and is being proactively managed by the project team.
9.5.2 In order to manage reputational risk in terms of the required governance, the project team
have held discussions with the developer to clearly articulate the caveats within the offer,
and the process surrounding the opportunity, so all parties have clear expectations.
9.6

Risk Management

9.6.1 In order to mitigate risk, a robust risk management structure sits around the administration
of Welland Homes as a Company. This risk management structure has been created to
manage the financial, legal, delivery, strategic and reputation risks associated with the
activity of the Company. A risk register for the Company is reviewed by the board and a
separate risk register, from the perspective of the authority is reviewed at the internal
project group meeting.
9.6.2 Risks around acquisition activity are sought to be mitigated through regular review and the
appointment of professional expertise to provide legal due diligence, and accredited
valuation advice to ensure value for money, in terms of the cost of the opportunity.
9.7

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

9.7.1 Welland Homes has an ambition to purchase the homes in August 2021. The financial
modelling of the opportunity has prudent assumptions around income generation and
assumes the units are let from October 2021.

Page 79

9.8

Transformation Programme

9.8.1 Detailed revenue savings arising from the investment in Welland Homes are set out as part
of Confidential Appendix 3. Forecast revenue return of over £0.308m per year comprising
equity donations, loan interest and staff recharges will be achieved by 2022-23 as a result
of this investment and the wider Business Plan. In addition, the Council will also receive
indirect contributions through New Homes Bonus and as a result of an increased Council
Tax base.
9.8.2 In March 2021, Welland Homes Limited provided charitable donations to local charities in
lieu of contributions from the SHDC. The charitable donations removed a financial
commitment from the SHDC General Fund of £111,000, during 2021/22.
10

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

10.1

All

11

ACRONYMS

11.1

None

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Katie Nicol, Housing Development Programme Manager
01775 764861
knicol@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Y

Exempt Decision:

Partially exempt

This report refers to a Discretionary Service
Confidential Appendices attached to this report:
(Please note that the following appendices are not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the
authority holding that information))
Appendix 1 –Financial Evaluation
Appendix 2 - Welland Homes Updated Business Plan
Appendix 3 – Financial Impact on Council
Appendix 4 – Comparison with approved Welland Homes Acquisition and Development
Programme Returns.

Page 80

Agenda Item 13.
SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer)

To:

South Holland District Council Wednesday, 19 May 2021

(Author:

Mark Stinson Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer))

Subject

Political Group Regulations and Committee/Outside Body Membership
Review

Purpose:

To confirm, in accordance with the Local Government (Committees and
Political Groups) Regulations 1990, appointments to committees and outside
bodies and review of membership.

Recommendation(s):
1) That the following Committees be appointed in accordance with political group regulations:










Planning Committee;
Governance and Audit;
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee;
Appointments and Disciplinary Appeal Committee;
Policy Development Panel;
Performance Monitoring Panel;
Licensing Committee;
Committee of the Licensing Committee.
Shared Memorandum of Agreement Committee

2) That the following Committees be appointed without being politically balanced:
 Standards Panel;
 Appeals Panel;
 Settlements Agreements Sub-Committee.
3) That the Council reviews current Committee and Panel membership as set out in Appendix A
and agrees any changes.

1.0

BACKGROUND
Legal Position

1.1

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides that the default position for
appointments to committees is on a politically proportionate basis. At each Annual Meeting,
the Council must consider whether any changes to committee membership are required in
order to maintain political proportionality.

1.2

Political proportionality rules apply to all committees and sub-committees (unless the
Council approves an exception – see paragraph 1.5 below). The requirement also applies

Page 81

to certain types of outside body (set out in law) where the Council makes three or more
appointments to the body in question.
1.3

In addition, the Council’s Constitution contains a number of provisions that are relevant to
the appointment of committees and sub-committees, and the making of appointments to
outside bodies, as follow:
1.3.1

Standing Order 30.1 – …..Appointments to Standing Committees may be
made for more than one municipal year, including periods up to the date of
the next District Council election.

1.3.2

Standing Order 34.2 – …..(where the Council has appointed a Standing
Committee for more than one year under Standing Order no. 30) at the
Annual Meeting of the Council after the appointment of that Standing
Committee expires, and from time to time as necessary, the Council shall
appoint the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of each Standing Committee.

1.3.3

Part 3, Section D – Council Terms of Reference (term of reference number
28) - Appointments to outside bodies may be made for more than one
municipal year, including periods up to the date of the next District Council
election.

1.4

At the meeting of the Annual Council on 15 May 2019 (the Annual Meeting after the last
District Council elections), the Council (i) approved committee membership for the four year
period ending on the next ordinary election in 2023; (ii) appointed committee chairmen and
vice-chairmen for the same period; and (iii) made appointments to outside bodies for the
same period. Changes to committees, sub-committees and outside body appointments can
of course be made (if and when necessary) at any Council Meeting. There has been a
change in political balance (as detailed in paragraph 1.7 below) which does now
necessitate a change in committee membership.

1.5

As mentioned in 1.2 above, political proportionality rules apply to all committees and subcommittees. However, the Act does allow for exceptions to the political balance
requirements. South Holland District Council has adopted exceptions for the following
committees where the membership is not proportionate to the political balance of the
Council as a whole (and the Independent Group receives more seats than it would
otherwise):




Standards Panel;
Appeals Panel;
Settlements Agreements Sub-Committee.

In addition, the Controlling Group has historically not taken up its full allocation of seats on
the Performance Monitoring Panel and as a result the Council has allocated those vacant
seats to members of the Independent Group.
1.6

The Act and the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990
(“the Regulations”) require that exception arrangements are agreed annually and without
any member of the authority voting against them. There is also a requirement to review
committee seats where there have been changes to the membership of political groups.

Page 82

1.6

The purpose of this report therefore is to confirm, in accordance with the Act and the
Regulations, whether the Council wishes to continue with the current arrangements for the
committees and panels listed recommendations 1 and 2 above and to consider the
necessary changes in the membership at Appendix A to this report.
Calculation/Required Changes

1.7

In October of last year Councillor Jack McLean served notice of his intention no longer to
be treated as a member of the South Holland Conservative Group. There was no legal
requirement for a review of committee seats to take place at that time, but a review must
take place at this Annual Council meeting.

1.8

The starting point is to calculate the total allocation of seats across all committees and subcommittees to which the Political Group Regulations apply:





1.9

There are currently 93 such seats in total (including the new Shared Memorandum of
Agreement Committee – which is dealt with separately at paragraph 1.10 below).
Conservative Group percentage is 23/37 – 62.162% which gives 58 seats in total
Independent Group percentage is 13/37 – 35.135% which gives 33 seats in total
That leaves two seats not allocated to a political group. Under Regulation 16(3) these
‘spare’ seats are allocated to non-aligned members (i.e. Councillor McLean).

We then move on to calculating the allocation of seats at committee level, the calculation
gives a slightly different result (due to rounding up/down for each committee) – the
Conservative Group appearing to be entitled to 56 (rather than 58) and the Independent
Group appearing to be entitled to 31 (rather than 33). However, the total committee seats
calculation takes precedence. The impact of the recalculation on the two political groups is
as follows:




Independent Group – no change. It already has the 33 seats to which it is entitled
together with an additional two seats (due to the fact that the Conservative Group does
not take its full allocation of seats on PMP).
Conservative Group – loses two seats which must be allocated to Councillor McLean.
Whilst it is entitled to 58 seats in total, the Conservative Group does not take up its full
allocation on PMP meaning that, at present, it has 56 seats.

Options for allocation seats to Councillor McLean

1.10

There are a number of permutations for allocating two currently Conservative seats to
Councillor McLean. Applying the principles of overall seat distribution, and the principles of
seat distribution at committee level, the following are the most appropriate options to
consider:


PMP – Councillor McLean is currently a member of PMP. He could remain on the
Committee, and be allocated one of the remaining Conservative Group seats. This
would allocate one of the two seats to which Councillor McLean is entitled. If not,
the Conservative Group will need to identify a Conservative Group member to
replace him.

Page 83







Planning Committee – Councillor McLean could be allocated a Conservative
Group seat on the Planning Committee. This would allocate one of the two seats to
which Councillor McLean is entitled.
Licensing Committee/Committee of the Licensing Authority – there is currently
a Conservative Group vacancy on both the Licensing Committee and the
Committee of the Licensing Authority (the membership of both committees is the
same). Councillor McLean could be allocated both seats. This would satisfy
Councillor McLean’s right to two seats.
Appointments Appeals – Councillor McLean could be allocated a Conservative
Group seat on the Appointments Appeals Committee. This would allocate one of the
two seats to which Councillor McLean is entitled.

Other Changes Required
In addition to allocating two seats to Councillor McLean, some further changes are
necessary as follows:




PDP – Councillor McLean is currently a member of PDP. At the committee level
calculation he would not be entitled to a seat on this committee and will therefore
need to be replaced with a Conservative Group member.
Shared Memorandum of Agreement Committee – this is a new joint committee
with Breckland Council (established by the Council at its meeting on 28 April, to deal
with any historical disputes relating to the former shared management
arrangements). The Conservative Group is entitled to two seats and the
Independent Group is entitled to one seat. The political group leaders will need to
identify members for appointment to this committee, but it could mirror the
Appointments and Disciplinary Committee (which used to be responsible for this
function when the Appointments and Disciplinary Committee was a joint committee
with Breckland Council).

Outside Body Appointments
1.11

As detailed at 1.4 above, outside body appointments were made at the May 2019 Annual
Council for a four year period. Changes to these appointments can be made at any Council
meeting should the need arise, and a number of such changes have been made at recent
Council meetings.

1.12

In the case of certain outside bodies specified in law political proportionality rules apply
where three or more appointments are made by the Council. No changes to outside bodies
are required on the basis of political proportionality rules.

1.13

A list of current outside body appointments is attached at Appendix B.

2.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

2.1

Implementing the necessary changes will ensure compliance with the law and will allow the
Council to continue to undertake its business.

3.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the

Page 84

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales;
Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be
implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below.
3.1

Constitutional & Legal

3.1.1

The operation of committees and sub-committees and the appointment of members to
outside bodies are dealt with in the Constitution and in law (Local Government Act 1972,
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government (Committees and
Political Groups) Regulations 1990).

3.2

Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales

3.2.1

Appointments to committees and sub-committees, and outside bodies, reflect the wishes of
the relevant political group/group leader.

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number
Email:

Mark Stinson, Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer)
mark.stinson@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

N

Exempt Decision:

N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A
Committee Membership
Appendix B
Outside Body Appointments

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX A
Committee Membership updated February 2021
Performance Monitoring Panel (PMP)
Name

Group

Cllr. Alcock (Chairman)
Cllr. Astill
Cllr. Booth (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Brewis
Cllr. Carter
Cllr. Cronin
Cllr. King
Cllr. McLean
Cllr. Pepper
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Scalese
Cllr. Tennant
Cllr. Tyrrell
Cllr. Walsh
Cllr. Wilkinson

Independent
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Non-Aligned
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Independent

Policy Development Panel (PDP)
Name

Group

Cllr. Astill
Cllr. Avery
Cllr. Beal
Cllr. Biggadike
Cllr. Booth
Cllr. Gibson
Cllr. Hasan
Cllr. King
Cllr. McLean
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Reynolds
Cllr. Rudkin
Cllr. Scalese (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Slade
Cllr. Walsh
Cllr. Woolf (Chairman)

Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Independent
Independent
Non-Aligned
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative

Page 87

Governance and Audit Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Astill (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Brewis
Cllr. Carter (Chairman)
Cllr. Hasan
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Seymour
Cllr. Walsh

Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent

Planning Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Alcock
Cllr. Avery (Chairman)
Cllr. Beal
Cllr. Bingham
Cllr. Brewis
Cllr. Coupland
Cllr. Drury
Cllr. Gambba-Jones (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Grocock
Cllr. Lawton
Cllr. Rudkin
Cllr. Seymour
Cllr. Tennant
Cllr. Tyrrell
Cllr. Woolf

Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative

Licensing Committee and Committee of the Licensing Authority
Name

Group

Cllr. Beal
Cllr. Biggadike
Cllr. Bingham
Cllr. Booth
Cllr. Casson
Cllr. Cronin
Cllr. Drury
Cllr. King
Cllr. Redgate (Vice-Chairman)
Cllr. Rudkin
Cllr. Scalese
Cllr. Seymour
Cllr. Tyrrell (Chairman)
Cllr. Woolf
1 Conservative Vacancy

Conservative
Conservative
Independent
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Conservative

Page 88

Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Coupland
Cllr. Gibson
Cllr. Worth

Conservative
Independent
Conservative

Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Appeal Committee
Name

Group

To be appointed as necessary
To be appointed as necessary
To be appointed as necessary
Cllr. Wilkinson

Conservative
Conservative
Conservative
Independent

Standards Panel
Name

Group

Cllr. Alcock
Cllr. Astill
Cllr. King
Cllr. Slade
Cllr. Sneath
Cllr. Wilkinson

Independent
Conservative
Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent

Appeals Panel
Name

Group

Cllr. Booth
Cllr. Gambba-Jones
Cllr. Redgate
Cllr. Wilkinson

Independent
Conservative
Conservative
Independent

Settlements Agreement Sub-Committee
Name

Group

Cllr. Carter
Cllr. Hasan
Cllr. Wilkinson
Cllr. Worth

Conservative
Independent
Independent
Conservative

Page 89

Councillor Development Working Group
(7 councillors reflecting cross party membership)
Name
Cllr C Brewis
Cllr A Newton
Cllr R Gambba-Jones
Cllr C Lawton

Cllr Astill
Cllr G Taylor
Cllr. Drury

Page 90

APPENDIX B

Name of Outside Body

Councillor appointed for 20192023
Councillor E Sneath

Date agreed by
Council
15th May 2019

Councillor A Woolf

15th May 2019

Councillor Walsh

31st July 2019

Councillor E Sneath

15th May 2019

Councillor J Astill
Councillor A Beal

15th May 2019

Councillor G Taylor

15th May 2019

Councillor G Porter
Councillor P Coupland
(Substitute)

15th May 2019
23rd September 2020

Health Scrutiny for Lincolnshire

Councillor G Scalese
Deputy - Councillor Beal

15th May 2019
31st July 2019

IVO Day Centre Management
Committee
Lincolnshire Forum for
Agriculture and Horticulture
Lincolnshire County Council
Flood and Drainage
Management Scrutiny
Committee

Councillor Taylor

15th May 2019

Councillor N Worth

15th May 2019

Councillor M Seymour

15th May 2019

Lincolnshire Police and Crime
Panel
Lincolnshire Sport

Councillor N Pepper

15th May 2019

Councillor T Carter

15th May 2019

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership
(2 Nominations required)

Councillor R Gambba-Jones
Environmental Services
Manager
Councillor G Porter

15th May 2019

National Association of British
Market Authorities

Councillor A Newton

15th May 2019

North Level District Internal
Drainage Board

Councillor C Brewis
Councillor M Seymour
Councillor A Beal

15th May 2019

Advisory and Liaison
Committee to the Heritage
Trust of Lincolnshire
Air Training Corps – Civilian
Welfare Committee (Spalding
Squadron)
Black Sluice Internal Drainage
Board
Campaign to Protect Rural
England – Lincolnshire Branch
Citizens Advice Bureau –
Board of Trustees
(2 Nominations required)
East Community Safety
Partnership
East Midlands Councils

Local Government Association
– General Assembly

Page 91

15th May 2019

Councillor G Taylor

15th May 2019

Councillor B Alcock
Councillor P Coupland
Councillor R Grocock
F Biggadike (Substitute)
Councillor M Seymour
(Substitute)
1 substitute vacancy
Councillor A Newton
Councillor J Reynolds
Councillor P Redgate
2 vacancies

15th May 2019

Councillor G Rudkin
Councillor F Biggadike
Councillor A Casson
Councillor M Seymour
Councillor J Tyrrell
Councillor E Sneath
Councillor A Beal
Councillor P Redgate
Councillor Coupland
Councillor Wilkinson
Councillor R Grocock

15th May 2019

South Holland Parish Voluntary
Car Scheme
Spalding Energy Project –
Community Liaison Group
(2 Representatives required)

Councillor A Newton

15th May 2019

Development Manager
Councillor Taylor

15th May 2019

Spalding Town Husbands

Councillor A Newton
Councillor E Sneath

15th May 2019

Spalding Water Taxi Company
Limited
The Wash and North Norfolk
Coast European Marine Site
Management Group

Councillor J McLean

15th May 2019

Councillor D Wilkinson

15th May 2019

Wash Shoreline Management
Plan – Elected Members’
Forum
(2 Nominations required)
Welland & Deepings Internal
Drainage Board

Councillor M Booth
Councillor M Seymour

15th May 2019

Councillor A Newton
Councillor C Lawton
Councillor E Sneath
Councillor P Coupland
Councillor A Casson
Councillor J Avery
George Aley

15th May 2019

Rural Services Network –
SPARSE Rural
South East Lincolnshire Joint
Strategic Planning Committee
(3 Representatives, 3
Substitutes)

South Holland in Bloom
Advisory Committee
(5 Nominations required)

South Holland Internal
Drainage Board
(11 Nominations required)

Page 92

25 November 2020

15th May 2019

31st July 2019
23rd September 2020

23rd September 2020

Agenda Item 17.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 93

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 18.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 95

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 19.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

